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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
"STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision

to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance
is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the
contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy
or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or

any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Good
Fellow Healthcare Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given
in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM (the "GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having
made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is
accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of

which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement

EREKS

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
"Directors”) of Good Fellow Healthcare Holdings Limited (the
“Company”), | am pleased to present the audited financial results
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2022.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
2021/2022 was a critical year and full of challenges for the Group.

During the year, the Group continued to focus on the provision
of general hospital services in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC"). The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March
2022 was approximately HK$54.238 million (2021: approximately
HK$53.886 million), representing an increase of approximately
0.65% as compared with 2021. The operating loss from operation
was approximately HK$5.891 million (2021: approximately
HK$37.053 million). Net loss attributable to owners of the
Company was approximately HK$12.689 million (2021: net loss of
approximately HK$30.183 million).

OPERATION REVIEW

General hospital services

The Group operates two general hospitals in Putian and Beijing
(2021: two general hospitals in Putian and Beijing), respectively in
the PRC and continues to allocate resources to look for business
opportunities to expand the hospital services. The segmental
revenue for the year was approximately HK$54.238 million (2021:
approximately HK$53.886 million), representing an increase of

approximately 0.65% as compared with 2021.
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank our customers,
suppliers, business partners for their support. Also, | would like to
offer my highest gratitude to our shareholders for their devotion
and to our employees for their loyalty and contributions made

during the year.

Ng Chi Lung

Chairman

Hong Kong, 17 June 2022

Chairman'’s Statement
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEFRR DM

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Summary of the results of the Group for the financial year ended

31 March 2022 is as follows:

Revenue was approximately HK$54.238 million (2021:
approximately HK$53.886 million), representing an increase

of approximately 0.65% as compared with last year.

Gross profit was approximately HK$26.660 million (2021:
approximately HK$26.447 million), representing an increase

of approximately 0.81% as compared with last year.

The operating loss from the operation was approximately
HK$5.891 million (2021: approximately HK$37.053 million).
Net loss attributable to owners of the Company was
approximately HK$12.689 million (2021: approximately
HK$30.183 million).

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).
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RBEHE
KERBE_E-__F=H=1+—HLHMK
FEZEEWMENT :

U 49454,238,0008 7 (Z8B - —
£ #953,886,00087T) » REFEMA
0.65% ©

EFL%A26,660,00087T (ZB=-—
£ © #926,447,00038 7T) » REFE MK
0.81% e

REER 2R ERIEMNA5,891,000
BT (ZTEZ—F :437,053,0008
TT) cRRAFEBARGLEBEEFEY
#12,689,0008 T (ZEZ—F 1 4
30,183,000 7T) °

ESTAEBMBE_T__F=8
S+—HLEEERERAKRE (ZF



Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of general

hospital services in the PRC.

Revenue

The Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$54.238 million
(2021: approximately HK$53.886 million) for the year ended 31
March 2022, an increase of approximately 0.65% as compared

with last year.

General hospital services

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group operated two
general hospitals in Putian and Beijing respectively in the PRC
(2021: two general hospitals in Putian and Beijing), and was
principally engaged in the provision of general hospital services,
including but not limited to medical wards, surgical wards,
medical checkup and examination. The management envisaged
more diversified hospital services being readily available to
satisfy various needs of the public in the next few years, from
the common illness treatments to the treatments of special and
difficult diseases. Therefore, the Group will continue to allocate
resources to develop such services either from our existing

hospitals or through collaboration with strategic partners.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEFRR DM

Other revenue

Other revenue, primarily including government grants,
government subsidy, finance lease interest income, bank interest
income and sundry income amounted to approximately HK$2.132
million (2021: approximately HK$4.437 million) for the year ended
31 March 2022.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses primarily consisted of (1) salaries
and wages of sales and marketing personnel, (2) depreciation
expense, and (3) transportation expenses. For the year ended
31 March 2022, selling and distribution expenses amounted
to approximately HK$20.902 million (2021: approximately
HK$21.303 million), representing a decrease of approximately
1.88% as compared with last year, which was due to the disposal
of the Putian Edinburgh Friendship Hospital as disclosed in the
announcement and circular of the Company dated 23 August

2021 and 15 September 2021 respectively.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses for the year ended 31 March 2022
amounted to approximately HK$41.447 million (2021:
approximately HK$47.466 million), representing a decrease of
approximately 12.68% as compared with last year. It was due
to the disposal of the Putian Edinburgh Friendship Hospital as
disclosed in the announcement and circular of the Company dated
23 August 2021 and 15 September 2021 respectively.

Finance costs

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the finance costs of the
Group were approximately HK$1.655 million (2021: approximately
HK$2.350 million), representing a decrease of approximately
29.57% as compared with last year. It was due to the decrease
in interest expenses on lease liabilities on Putian Edinburgh

Friendship Hospital due to its disposal last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Loss from operations attributable to owners of the
Company

The Group recorded a net loss from the operation before
taxation of approximately HK$7.546 million (2021: approximately
HK$39.403 million), representing a decrease as compared with last

year.

Dividends
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

OUTLOOK AND FUTURE PROSPECTS

During the first year of the 14th Five-Year plan, the state and
all parts of society are embracing the “Healthy China 2030”
Initiative, the medical and healthcare sectors are coming under
the spotlight, and increasing professionalism of medical and
healthcare institutions, services and products are increasingly
welcomed by the public. The management continues to focus
on the training of medical staff, the exploration of new business
approaches, the quality and safety of medical services and the
optimisation of our resources for the better outcomes both
medically and financially. We strive to work closely with the
leading healthcare providers in the world to ensure we are
adequately equipped to take advantage of the promising market
opportunities in China. The management intends to implement
further strategies and actions to benefit from the upward trend in

the medical and healthcare sectors.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEFRR DM

The Group will continue to assess the impact of COVID-19 on the
Group’s operations and financial performance, closely monitor
the Group’s exposure to the risks and uncertainties in connection
with COVID-19 on an ongoing basis, and will strengthen the
cost savings measures in view of the challenging conditions.
Whilst the operation of the Group’s existing business remains
the center of attention of the Group, including the hospital
in Beijing which provides a steady revenue stream, the Group
will devote its resources in the exploration on chronical disease
treatment and management in light of the size of the market
and the efforts directed by the central government towards the
study and development of chronical disease treatments. While
the management strives to improve the performance of existing
business, more resources will be allocated to support further
exploration of new opportunities to strengthen our capabilities

and positions in the market for the upcoming financial year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group had total cash and bank balances of approximately
HK$16.795 million as at 31 March 2022 (2021:
HK$38.071 million).

approximately

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’'s bank balances of
RMB3,612,000 (equivalent to HK$4,458,000) was restricted
due to the civil complaint filed with the People’s Court of
Qianhai Shenzhen City by China Merchants Hainan Development
Investment Co, Ltd.

The Group recorded total current assets of approximately
HK$39.753 million as at 31 March 2022 (2021:
HK$74.175 million) and total current liabilities of approximately
HK$29.228 million as at 31 March 2022 (2021:
HK$55.330 million). The current ratio of the Group, calculated
by dividing the current assets by the current liabilities, was
approximately 1.36 as at 31 March 2022 (2021:
1.341).

approximately

approximately

approximately

As at 31 March 2022, the Group's gearing ratio was not
applicable based on outstanding debts (comprising borrowings
and lease liabilities) less cash and cash equivalents over total
equity (including all capital and reserves of the Group) (2021:
N/A).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group had no material capital

commitment.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group did not have material contingent liabilities
as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

LEGAL PROCEEDING

Save as disclosed in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements and the paragraph headed “Litigation involving a
Subsidiary”, the Group did not have material legal proceedings as
at 31 March 2022.

FINANCING AND TREASURY POLICIES

The Group continues to adopt prudent financing and treasury
policies. All the Group’s financing and treasury activities are
centrally managed and controlled. Implementation of the
Group's related policies is made under collective but extensive
considerations on liquidity risk, financing cost and exchange rate

risk.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Since almost all transactions of the Group are denominated in
Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars and most of the bank deposits
are being kept in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars to minimise
exposure to foreign exchange risk, the Directors consider the
Group's risk exposure to currency fluctuations to be minimal.
Therefore, the Group had not implemented any formal hedging
or other alternative policies to deal with such exposure during the

year.

CHARGES ON GROUP’S ASSETS
As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group had no bank

borrowings.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEFRR DM

SEGMENT INFORMATION
During the year, the revenue of the Group was principally
generated from provision of general hospital services. Financial

information in respect of these operations is presented in Note 6.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2022, the total issued share capital of the
Company was approximately HK$29.168 million (2021:
approximately HK$29.168 million) divided into 2,818,249,944
ordinary shares and 98,500,000 non-voting convertible preference
shares (2021: 2,818,249,944 ordinary shares and 98,500,000
non-voting convertible preference shares) of HK$0.01 (2021:
HK$0.01) each.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY
As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 137 (2021: 340) full time

employees (including Directors) as shown in the following table:
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Management Discussion and Analysis

For the year ended 31 March 2022, staff costs (including Directors
emoluments) amounted to approximately HK$31.487 million
(2021: approximately HK$29.485 million). The Group remunerates
its employees based on individual performance and qualification.
Apart from the basic remuneration, staff benefits include the
contribution to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme, bonus
and medical coverage in Hong Kong; and basic insurance for
the elderly, basic medical insurance, work injury insurance and
unemployment insurance to the employees in the PRC. The Group
also adopted employee share option schemes to provide eligible
employees a performance incentive for continuous and improved
services with the Group and to enhance their contributions to
increase profits by encouraging capital accommodation and
share ownership. As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, there were
no outstanding share options granted under the share option

schemes.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES
Disposal of the entire equity interest of Edin Hospital
Management (Putian) Co., Ltd.*

On 23 August 2021, Edinburgh International Hospital
Management Limited (“Edinburgh International”), an indirect
non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the
disposal agreement with Fujian Pu Yang Hu Lan Investment Co.,
Ltd." ((REERE=HREBREMEAE), pursuant to which
Edinburgh International and the independent third party agreed
to sell and acquire the entire equity interest of Edin Hospital
Management (Putian) Co., Ltd* (BT EREIE (FH) BRA
7)) (together with its subsidiary, “the Target Group”) at nil

consideration (the “Disposal”).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEFRR DM

Completion of the Disposal took place on 1 September 2021.
Upon the completion, the Target Group ceased to be subsidiaries
of the Company and the Company had ceased to have any
interests in the Target Group and the financial results of the Target
Group would no longer be consolidated into the consolidated

financial statements of the Group.

For more details, please refer to the circular of the Company dated
15 September 2021 and the announcement of the Company
dated 23 August 2021.

RESIGNATION OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR,
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Dr. Liu Chenli has tendered his resignation as non-executive
Director of the Company with effect from 1 December 2021
as he would like to devote more time to pursue other business

commitment.

For more details, please refer to the announcement of the

Company dated 1 December 2021.

Dr. Jiang Tao has tendered his resignation as an executive Director
and the chief executive officer of the Company with effect
from 31 May 2021 as due to his personal reason and family
commitment. Following Dr. Jiang Tao's resignation as an executive
Director and the chief executive officer, he also ceased to be a
member of the nomination and corporate governance committee
of the Company but Dr. Jiang Tao will remain as a director of a
non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company until 27 December
2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

For more details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 31 May 2021.

TENANCY FOR BEIJING ZIJING HOSPITAL

On 4 January 2022, Beijing Zijing Hospital Co., Ltd.# (J5 5 &&#i
B AR AE) (an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company), as tenant, and Beijing Shengrong Huapeng Science
and Trade Co., Ltd.* JtRERKERRIEFPRLQE), as landlord,
entered into the tenancy agreement in respect of the lease of
the property located at 11 Beijing Station East Street, Dongcheng
District, Beijing, the PRC* (REIIER R & L R UGRE115%)
for a term of three years, commencing from 1 January 2022
and expiring on 31 December 2024 (both days inclusive) at
an annual rent of RMB2,400,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,942,400) for the operation of medical wards, hospitality and

office.

For more details, please refer to the announcements of the

Company dated 4 January 2022 and 5 January 2022.

LITIGATION INVOLVING A SUBSIDIARY

on 9 March 2022, Edinburgh International Hospital Management
(Shenzhen) Co. Ltd.* (BT EEKRBREE CRII) BRAR)
("Edinburgh Hospital Management”), an indirect subsidiary of
the Company, received a civil complaint (the “Civil Complaint”)
filed with the People’s Court of Qianhai Shenzhen City* GZ1I
B EE& AR EBT) by China Merchants Hainan Development
Investment Co. Ltd.* ({BAEFHEERAZEIRERMRAR) ("China
Merchants”) as plaintiff against Edinburgh Hospital Management
as defendant, and Edinburgh International Diabetes Hospital
Ltd* (BT EREKRERFER (Bm) ARA
7)) ("Edinburgh International Diabetes”),

(Hainan) Co.
a subsidiary of

Edinburgh Hospital Management, as a third party.
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BEEEFRR DM

Pursuant to the Civil Complaint, China Merchants sought,
among other things, to terminate a cooperation agreement
(the “Cooperation Agreement”) dated 31 July 2020 entered
into between China Merchants and Edinburgh Hospital
Management in relation to, among other things, the provision
of funds by China Merchants for the establishment and
operation of the international diabetes center in Hainan (the
“IDC"”) and the provision of management services by Edinburgh
Hospital Management or its subsidiary to the IDC, the refund
of approximately RMB12.13 million by Edinburgh Hospital
Management, being the aggregate of funds already advanced
by China Merchants pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement,
payment of liquidated damages under the Cooperation Agreement
and costs in relation to the Civil Complaint of approximately
RMB1.4 million.

For more details,
Company dated 10 March 2022.

please refer to the announcements of the

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

No significant event took place subsequent to the end of the

reporting period.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The Group's financial condition, results of operations,
businesses and prospects may be affected by a number of
risks and uncertainties. The followings are the key risks and
uncertainties identified by the Group. There may be other risks
and uncertainties in addition to those shown below which are not
known to the Group or which may not be material now but could

turn out to be material in the future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Market Risks

As the country has recently restructured its central ministries and
agencies responsible for the healthcare, the functions of different
departments are being reassigned, thus potentially slowing down
the procedures and work in relation to the hospital operations and
management engaged by the company. The changes will also have
some potential impact on the further establishment of policies and
regulations at various levels of the local governments. We view
those are potential risks for the execution of our marketing plans

and implementation of the cooperation.

Operational Risks

It is noted that the regional governance of the hospitals varies
from city to city due to the different focuses on local medical
services and social welfare. This will certainly have some impact on
our operations because we manage our hospitals in different cities
in the country. This has been and will be a huge challenge to the
management for the standardisation and consistency of hospital
operations. The efforts should be made to cover the fundamental
requirements in compliance with the regional policy as well as the
core guidelines issued by the central government to ensure the

smooth and effective operation.
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Directors' and Senior Management's Profiles

EShEREEASHE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Ng Chi Lung (“Mr. Ng”),

of experience in founding new business and commercial

aged 33, has nine years

management. Mr. Ng studied at Macquarie University (major
in accounting) in Australia after obtained his diploma from
the Sydney Institute of Business and Technology in 2008.
Since February 2012, Mr. Ng founded and managed business
including the scope of manufacturing and services sector. He
was an executive director of Yueshou Environmental Holdings
Limited (currently known as China Gem Holdings Limited) (stock
code:1191), being a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, from September 2014 to April 2016. He was also
a vice chairman and an executive director of Theme International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 990), being a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from April 2016 to July 2018.
Mr. Ng was appointed as an executive Director and chairman of
the Board on 23 July 2018. Mr. Ng is also a director of various

subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Zheng Gang (“Mr. Zheng”), aged 54, holds a master degree
degree in business administration from Cardiff Business School in
the United Kingdom and a bachelor degree in engineering from
Xiamen University in the PRC. Mr. Zheng has over 20 years of
management experience in finance, investment and trading. Mr.
Zheng is an independent non-executive director of Smart-Core
Holdings Limited (stock code: 2166) since March 2016, being a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was
a non-executive director of New Provenance Everlasting Holdings
Limited (stock code: 2326), being a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, from May 2018 to November 2019.
Mr. Zheng was appointed as an executive Director on 1 August
2007. Mr. Zheng is also a director of various subsidiaries of the
Group.
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Directors' and Senior Management's Profiles

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. Wong Ka Wai, Jeanne (“Ms. Wong"), aged 58, has over 28
years of experience in finance, accounting, taxation and corporate
affairs. She is a member of the Chartered Accountants in Australia
and New Zealand, a Certified Public Accountant of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a member of the Society
of Trust and Estate Practitioner and the Certified Tax Advisor in
Hong Kong. Ms. Wong holds a bachelor degree in economics
from the University of Sydney, Australia. Ms. Wong is currently
the managing director of a private company providing consulting
and management services, as well as the chief financial officer
of a local law firm and consultant of a local CPA firm. Ms. Wong
is currently an independent non-executive director of Phoenitron
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8066), being a company listed on
GEM. Ms. Wong was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 1 November 2007.

Dr. Lam Huen Sum ("Dr. Lam”), aged 41, was graduated from
Hong Kong Baptist University with a bachelor’s degree in arts,
diploma in education, master degree in social sciences and master
of philosophy and the University of Hong Kong with a doctor of
philosophy. Dr. Lam has been an adjunct professor at University of
Jinan* (IUERE R AE), a member of the Advisory Board of Open
Institute, City University of Macau® CEFIHH A2 RS, a
specialist in Hong Kong Council for Accreditation of Academic and
Vocational Qualifications (B2 KX ERFER), a Fellow
of Chartered Management Institute, a Fellow and Executive Board
Member/Accreditor of Medical and Health Board of International
Industry and Professional Accreditation Association. Dr. Lam has
been appointed by Hong Kong College of Technology, as an
external examiner and a Faculty consultant since September 2016

and January 2017 respectively.

Dr. Lam was an independent non-executive director of Sunway
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 58), being a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from June 2017
to June 2019. Dr. Lam was appointed as an independent non-

executive Director on 9 July 2018.
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Directors' and Senior Management's Profiles

EShEREEASHE

Mr. Lau Tak Kei Arthur (“Mr. Lau”), aged 40, holds a bachelor
degree of laws from The London School of Economics and Political
Science and a master of economics from The University of Hong
Kong. He is licenced to carry out Type 4 (advising on securities)
and Type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of

Hong Kong).

Mr. Lau has over 15 years of experience spanning hedge
fund, private equity and investment banking in Asia. He is
the co-founder and currently a partner of Ark Pacific Capital
Management, a multi-strategy alternative asset manager focusing
in Greater China. He was investment director of Elliott Advisors
(HK) Ltd ("Elliott”), the Asian arm of Elliott Associates, a global
multi-strategy hedge fund. During his tenure at Elliott, he was
responsible for investments across asset classes including publicly-
listed securities, private equity, structured credit, real estate and
fund-of-funds investments in China, Hong Kong and South East
Asia. Prior to this, he worked as an investment banker at Citigroup
in the Technology, Media & Telecom team running a wide range
of mergers and acquisitions and corporate finance transactions.
He began his career at JPMorgan’s investment banking division
in Hong Kong. Mr. Lau is also a member of the Beijing Municipal
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference. Mr. Lau was appointed as an independent non-

executive Director on 4 October 2019.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lam Williamson (“Mr. Lam”), aged 47, joined the Group in
December 2007. Mr. Lam is the Group's chief financial officer and
company secretary of the Company. He has more than 20 years’
experience in finance and company secretarial functions. Mr. Lam
is @ member of the Certified Practising Accountant in Australia
and also a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified

Public Accountants.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company acknowledges the need and importance of
corporate governance as one of the key elements in creating
shareholders’ value. The Company is also committed to achieving
high standard of corporate governance that can properly protect
and promote the interests of all shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability of the Company. The Company
has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the "CG Code”)
(effective from 1 April 2012) as stated in Appendix 15 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

The Company has complied with the applicable code provisions in
the CG Code contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules
for the year ended 31 March 2022.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS
The Company has adopted a set of code for the required standard
of dealings in securities by directors of the Company on terms
no less exacting than the required standard of dealings set out in
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made specific
enquiries, the Directors confirmed that they have fully complied
with the required standard with respect to the securities dealings
of the Company and there was no event of non-compliance for
the year ended 31 March 2022.

Corporate Governance Report
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Corporate Governance Report

EXEBRS

THE BOARD

The Board assumes overall responsibilities for leadership and
control of the Company and is collectively responsible for
promoting the success of the Company and its business by
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. The Board
focuses on overall corporate strategies and policies with attention

particularly paid to the financial performance of the Company.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the company secretary, with a
view to ensuring that the Board procedures and all applicable laws
and regulations are followed. Each Director is normally able to
seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances

at the Company’s expense, upon making a request to the Board.

There is a clear division of the responsibilities of the Board and
the management. The Board delegated its responsibilities to
the Directors and senior management to deal with day-to-day

operations and review those arrangements on a periodic basis.

Management has to report back to the Board and obtain prior
approval before making decisions for key matters or entering into
any commitments on behalf of the Company. The Board has a
balance of skill and experience appropriate for the requirements of
the business of the Company.

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, the Nomination and Corporate Governance
Committee and the Remuneration Committee, for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees
of the Company are established with defined written terms of
reference which are disclosed on the Company’s website and the

Stock Exchange Website.

Appropriate directors’ liability insurance cover has been arranged
to indemnify the directors of the Company for liabilities arising out
of corporate activities. The coverage and the sum insured under

the policy are to be reviewed regularly.
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Board Composition and Attendance Records of
Directors

The Board currently composes of two executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors. During the year
ended 31 March 2022, nine full Board meetings were held and
attendance (either in person or through other electronic means
of communication) record of each Director at the meetings of
the Board together with the meetings of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee and general meetings held in 2021/2022
are set out below.

Corporate Governance Report
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HERY €28 E
Nomination General
and meetings
Corporate held during
Audit  Remuneration Governance the year
Board Committee Committee Committee 2021/2022
m—v :_E/
7 S el
) eEEY 852
Name of Directors EENA EXg EREZEY EMESg %8¢ RRAE
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Ng Chi Lung REERE 9/9 N/A R 8 N/A T8 22 11
Dr. Jiang Tao (Note 1) BERL (1) 0/9 N/A RiER N/A RER 02 0N
Mr. Zheng Gang BHELE 9/9 N/A T B 22 N/A T B 171
Non-executive Director FHTER
Dr. Liu Chen li (Note 2) R B (HEk2) 719 N/A REF N/A R N/A R 1/1
Independent non- BIERTES
executive Directors
Ms. Wong Ka Wai, Jeanne BERaZT 9/9 474 22 22 1/1
Dr. Lam Huen Sum MaREL 9/9 474 22 W 1N
Mr. Lau Tak Kei Arthur HEERE 9/9 414 22 1)) 11
Note: M3 EE
(1 Dr. Jiang has resigned as an executive Director and the chief (1) BEITER-_ZE-_—FHER=+—HEE
executive officer of the Company on 31 May 2021. KRB ZHITEE RITHARR -
(2) Dr. Liu Chen li has resigned as non-executive Director of the (2) FETELtERN S _—F+_B—H#

Company on 1 December 2021.

“The list of the Directors and their Role and Function” has been
maintained at the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. The Directors’ biographies and the relationship among
the Board members, if any, are disclosed under the “Directors’ and
Senior Management's Profiles” on pages 20 to 22 of this report.
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Given the composition of the Board and the skills, knowledge and
expertise that each Director brings to bear in its deliberations,
the Board believes that it is appropriately structured to provide
sufficient checks and balances to protect the interests of the
Group and the shareholders. The Board will review its composition
regularly to ensure that it has the appropriate balance of
expertise, skills and experience to continue to effectively oversee

the business of the Company.

Responsibilities of Directors

The non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors, with diversified expertise, skills and experience, play an
important role in formulating strategy and ensuring that the Board
maintains high standards of corporate governance. The Board had
received from each independent non-executive Director a written
annual confirmation of his/her independence and satisfied that the
independence of independent non-executive Directors up to the

date of this report is in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules.

On a regular basis, senior management provides the directors with
operational and financial reports of the Group’s performance,
position and prospect. All Directors are kept informed of and duly
briefed of major changes and information that may affect the

Group's business in a timely manner.

Every Board member is entitled to have access to board papers
and related materials and has unrestricted access to the advice
and services of the company secretary, and has the liberty to seek
external professional advice if so required. The company secretary
continuously updates all Directors on the latest development
of the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of good corporate

governance practice.
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Training and Continuous Development for Directors
Each newly appointed Director is provided with comprehensive
induction to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of
the operations and businesses of the Group as well as his/her
responsibilities and obligations under the GEM Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements. For Directors to keep abreast
of responsibilities as a director of the Company and of the
conduct, business activities and development of the Company.
The Company had provided trainings for Directors in the form
of seminar and reading materials. The Company has devised a
training record to assist the Directors to record the training they
have undertaken. Also, the completed records are received from
each of the Directors as confirmation. In addition, the Group will,
if necessary, provide timely and regular trainings to the Directors
to ensure that they keep abreast with the current requirements
under the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company will, from time to time, review the effectiveness of
the Group's corporate governance structure and consider whether

any changes.

DIRECTORS

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Code provision A.4.1 provides that non-executive director should
be appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election. The
Company’s non-executive director has been appointed for specific

term and subject to re-election.

In accordance with the articles of association (the "Articles of
Association”) of the Company, one-third of the directors who
have been the longest in office since their last election or re-
election are also subject to retirement by rotation at the annual

general meeting. All retiring Directors are eligible for re-election.
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Chairman and Chief Executive
Code provision A.2.1 provides the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. Mr. Ng Chi Lung is the chairman of the Board.
As the chairman, Mr. Ng Chi Lung manages the Board’s business
and activities and provides guidance and direction to other Board
members to ensure that the Board works effectively and acts
in the best interest of the Company. Prior to the resignation
of Dr. Jiang Tao on 31 May 2021,

executive officer of the Company and was responsible for the day-

Dr. Jiang Tao was the chief

to-day management and operations of the Group.

Following Dr. Jiang Tao’s resignation as the chief executive
officer of the Company, the Company has no chief executive
officer and therefore the daily operation and management of
the Company is monitored by the executive Directors, as well as
the senior management of the Group. The Board believes that
there is sufficient balance of power and authority as there are
experienced executive Directors each overseeing various aspects
of the business. In addition, there are three independent non-
executive Directors who are sufficiently experienced and capable
of monitoring the operations of the Group. The Board will meet
from time to time to discuss issues arising from operations of the

Group.

Board Meetings

The Board regularly meets in person to discuss and formulate
overall strategic direction and objectives and also approve annual,
interim and quarterly results as well as other significant matters of
the Company. Execution of daily operational matters is delegated

to management.
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The company secretary assists the executive Directors in preparing
notice and agenda for the meetings, and ensures that the
Company complied with the corporate governance practices and
other compliance matters. Annual meeting schedules and draft
agenda of each meeting are normally made available to Directors
in advance. At least 14 days' notice of all reqular Board meetings
were given to all Directors, who were all given an opportunity to
include matters in the agenda for regular discussion. Board papers
together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information
are sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each regular board
meeting or committee meeting (or such other period as agreed) to
keep Directors apprised of the latest developments and financial
position of the Company and to enable them to make informed

decisions.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the
company secretary with a view to ensuring that the Board

procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

Minutes of the Board/committee meetings are recorded in
significant detail for any decision and recommendation made
during the meetings. Draft and final versions of minutes are
circulated to Directors or committee members within a reasonable
time after the meetings are held and taken as the true records
of the proceedings of such meetings. All minutes are kept by the
company secretary and are open for inspection at any reasonable

time on reasonable notice by any Director.

All Directors are entitled to have access to board papers and
related materials unless there are legal or regulatory restrictions on

disclosure due to regulatory requirements.

If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest
in a matter to be considered by the Board which the Board has
determined to be material, the matter will be dealt with by way
of a Board/committee meeting and the interested shareholder or
Director shall not vote nor shall he/she be counted in the quorum
present at the relevant meeting. Independent non-executive
Director who, and whose associates, have no material interest in

the transaction, should be present at such a Board meeting.
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THE BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Company established the audit committee of the Company
(the “Audit Committee”) on 2 November 2001,
terms of reference compliance with Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of the

with written

GEM Listing Rules and is disclosed on the Company’s website. The
Audit Committee is comprised of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Ms. Wong Ka Wai, Jeanne, Dr. Lam Huen Sum
and Mr. Lau Tak Kei Arthur. Ms. Wong Ka Wai, Jeanne is the
chairlady of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to ensure the
adequacy and effectiveness of the accounting and financial
controls of the Group; to oversee the performance of risk
management and internal control systems and financial reporting
process; and to monitor the integrity of the financial statements
and compliance with statutory and listing requirements and to

oversee independence and qualifications of the external auditors.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, four meetings were held.

The main duties of the Audit Committee during the year include:

(@) reviewing the Group's audited annual and unaudited interim
and quarterly results and reports and considering any

significant or unusual items before submission to the Board;

(b) reviewing the relationship with the external auditors by
reference to the work performed by the auditors, their fees
and terms of engagement, and making recommendation to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal

of external auditors;

(c) reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, internal control system and risk

management system and associated procedures; and

(d) advising on material even or drawing the attention of the

management on related risks.
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The external auditors were invited to attend the said meetings to
discuss with the Audit Committee on issues arising from the audit
and financial reporting matters. Besides, there is no disagreement
between the Board and the Audit Committee regarding the

reappointment of external auditors.

The Group's audited consolidated financial results for the year
ended 31 March 2022 were reviewed by the Audit Committee,
which was of the opinion that the preparation of such results
complied with the applicable accounting standards and

requirements and that adequate disclosures have been made.

Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee
On 11 February 2014,

nomination and corporate governance committee of the Company

the Board resolved to establish a

(the “"Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee”)
in place and stead of the previous nomination committee of the
Company, which was established on 27 March 2012 in compliance
with the code provision. Written terms of reference were disclosed
on the Company’s website. The Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee has four members comprising the
chairman, Mr. Ng Chi Lung and three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Ms. Wong Ka Wai, Jeanne, Dr. Lam Huen Sum
and Mr. Lau Tak Kei Arthur. Mr. Ng Chi Lung is the chairman of

the Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee.

The main responsibilities of the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee are to review the structure, size and
composition, including the skills, knowledge and experience, of
the Board on a regular basis and make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company's
corporate strategy; identify individuals suitable qualified to
become directors and select, or make recommendations to the
Board for directorships; make recommendations to the Board on
relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors; and keep the effectiveness of the corporate governance

and system of internal controls of the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, two meetings were held.
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The main duties of the Nomination and Corporate Governance

Committee during the year include:

(a) reviewing the structure, size and composition, including the

skills, knowledge and experience of the Board;

(b) making recommendations on any proposed changes to the

Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

() making recommendation on the re-election of the retiring
Directors standing for re-election at the Company’s 2022

annual general meeting; and

(d) assessing the independence of all the independent non-

executive Directors.

The Board had adopted a board diversity policy on 8 November
2018, which sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the

Board. For details, please refer to page 55 of this report.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the remuneration committee of the
Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) on 3 June 2005
with written terms of reference as disclosed on the Company's
website. The Remuneration Committee has four members
comprising an executive Director, Mr. Zheng Gang and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. Wong Ka Wai,
Jeanne, Dr. Lam Huen Sum and Mr. Lau Tak Kei Arthur. Ms. Wong

Ka Wai, Jeanne is the chairlady of the Remuneration Committee.
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The role and function of the Remuneration Committee include
the determination of specific remuneration package of all
executive Directors, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment, and making
recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of non-
executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee considers
factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities of the directors, employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group and desirability of

performance-based remuneration.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, two meetings were held.

The main duties of the Remuneration Committee during the year

include:

(@) determining and making recommendations to the Board
regarding the specific remuneration package of each
of the executive Directors, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office

or appointment; and

reviewing and making recommendations to the Board
regarding the remuneration of each of the non-executive

Directors and members of senior management.

The Remuneration Committee considers factors such as
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the Directors, employment and responsibilities in

the Group and desirability of performance-based remuneration.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2022.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual, interim and quarterly
reports, price-sensitive announcements and other disclosures
required under the GEM Listing Rules and other statutory and
regulatory requirements. The directors are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the relevant accounting periods under applicable statutory
and regulatory requirements which give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs, the results of operations and cash flows of
the Group. In preparing the annual, interim and quarterly results
of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2022, the Directors
have adopted suitable accounting policies and applied them

consistently.

The responsibility of the auditors with respect to these
consolidated financial statements is set out in the Independent

Auditor’s Report on pages 59 to 66 of this report.

COMPANY SECRETARY
During the year, the company secretary of the Company has
undertaken no less than 15 hours of professional training to

update his skills and knowledge.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems, and for reviewing its

effectiveness.
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The Group's internal control and risk management systems are
designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss and manage rather than
eliminate risks of failure in operational systems. In 2022, the
Board, through the Audit Committee, has reviewed and is satisfied
with the effectiveness and adequacy of the internal control and

risk management systems of the Group.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take
in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing
and maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems of the Group. The Board, as supported by
the Audit Committee, had conducted review of the effectiveness
of the Group's risk management and internal control system for
the year, which covers all material controls, including financial,

operational and compliance control.

In meeting such responsibility, the management of the Group
conducts internal audit which includes analysis and appraisal of
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's risk management
and internal control systems. The management reviews all major
operations of the Group on a cyclical basis, and summarises
all material issues and findings to the Board and the Audit

Committee annually.

In particular, the Group has established guidelines and procedures
for the approval and control of expenditures, to ensure the
reliability of the financial reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of

operation and compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

The Board will review the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience training programmes and budget
of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function

annually.
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The audit reviews cover all material controls including financial,
operational and compliance controls. Results of the audit reviews
are submitted to the members of the Audit Committee for
discussion at the Audit Committee meetings. The internal audit
review reports are then followed up by the management to ensure

that findings previously identified have been properly resolved.

The Board considers that the Group has put in place adequate
measures to perform the internal audit function at different
aspects of the Group. The Audit Committee and the Board
are satisfied with the effectiveness and efficiency of the risk

management and internal control systems of the Group.

The Group has established policy for ensuring that inside
information is disseminated to the public in an equal and timely
manner in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.
Procedures such as limiting access to inside information to those
who need to know and requiring external parties to execute
confidentiality agreements have been implemented by the
Company to guard against mishandling of inside information.
The Group also reminds those relevant personnel and other
professional parties to preserve confidentiality of the inside

information until it is publicly disclosed.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the fees paid or payable to
the auditors in respect of audit and non-audit services provided by

the auditors of the Group were as follows:
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Nature of services RFE4EE =% (F#7)
Audit services EIZRTE 636
Non-audit services JEBEIZARTE 130
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company has not
made any changes to its Articles of Association. An up to date
version of the Articles of Association is also available on the

Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Board believes that a transparent and timely disclosure
of the Group’s information will enable shareholders and
investors to make the best investment decision and to have
better understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. It is also vital for developing and maintaining
continuing investor relations with the Company’s potential and

existing investors.

The Company maintains a website at www.gf-healthcare.com as
a communication platform with shareholders and investors, where
information and updates on the Group’s financial information and

other information are available for public access.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for which enquiries may be put to the
Board

Shareholders are provided with contact details of the Company,
such as telephone number, fax number, email address and postal
address, in order to enable them to make any query that they
may have with respect to the Company. They can also send
their enquiries to the Board through these means. In addition,
shareholders can contact the share registrar of the Company, if

they have any enquires about their shareholdings.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted
on by poll pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the

Company after each shareholder meeting.
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Procedures for convening general meetings by
shareholders

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, the Board may whenever it thinks fit call extraordinary
general meetings, and the shareholders holding at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the company
secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition, and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days
of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be

reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
shareholders’ meeting

Shareholders are requested to follow article 58 of the Articles of
Association for including a resolution at an extraordinary general
meeting. The requirements and procedures are set out above
in the paragraph headed “Procedures for convening general

meetings by shareholders” above.
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Pursuant to article 88 of the Articles of Association, no person,
other than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the
Directors for election, be eligible for election as a Director at
any general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention
to propose that person for election as a Director and notice in
writing by that person of his willingness to be elected shall have
been lodged at the head office or at the registration office. The
period for lodgment of the notices required will commence no
earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such election and end no later than seven
days prior to the date of such general meeting and the minimum
length of the period during which such notices to the Company

may be given will be at least seven days.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Company’s constitutional documents

for the year.
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The Directors have the pleasure to present their annual report and
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2022.

DATE OF INCORPORATION

The Company was incorporated and registered as an exempted
company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 28 May
2001 under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as

consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands.

The shares of the Company were listed on GEM on 10 May 2002.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company while its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of general
hospital services in the PRC. Details of the principal activities of
its subsidiaries are set out in Note 39 to the consolidated financial

statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 and
the state of the Group's affairs as at 31 March 2022 are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 67 to 70.

The Board does not recommend a final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial

statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in Note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes

in equity respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company did not have any distributable reserves as at 31
March 2022 (2021: nil). Under the Companies Law, Cap. 22
(Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium of the Company is available for paying
distributions or dividends to shareholders subject to the provisions
of its Memorandum and Articles of Association and provided that
immediately following the distribution or dividend the Company
is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business. In accordance with the Articles of Association, dividends
shall be distributed out of the retained profits or other reserves,

including the share premium account, of the Company.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY
The Group did not further invest in investment property during the

year.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 16 to the consolidated

financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS

During the year ended 31 March 2022, no individual customer has
contributed over 5% of the Group's total revenue. During the
year, the five largest customers in aggregate contributed to less

than 5% of the Group's total revenue.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or
any of their close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
or shareholders that owned more than 5% of the issued shares
had any direct or indirect interest in the five largest customers of

the Group during the year.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the largest supplier has

contributed to less than 10% of the Group's total purchases.
During the year, the five largest suppliers in aggregate contributed

to less than 30% of the Group's total purchases.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or
any of their close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
or shareholders that owned more than 5% of the issued shares
had any direct or indirect interest in the five largest suppliers of

the Group during the year.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Group's success also depends on the support from key
stakeholders which comprise employees, customers, suppliers,
regulators and Shareholders. Employees are regarded as the most
important and valuable assets of the Group. The Group maintains
a good relationship with its employees and did not experience any
major difficulties in recruitment, nor did it experience any material
loss in manpower or suffer from any material labour dispute
during the year. The Group also understands the importance of
maintaining a good relationship with its suppliers and customers
to meet its short-term and long-term goals. It enjoys good
relationships with suppliers and customers and strives to take an

active part in the communities where they operate.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group's has adopted the green hospital development
policy and implemented low carbon strategies in all aspects
of operations in compliance with the requirements by the
government. The Group is committed to environmental protection
and energy conservation. In the course of investment, construction
and operation, the Group has consistently carried out the
operation objective of “Benefiting the society and the populace”
and focused on sustainable development. With reliability,
professional and safety as its objective, the Group possesses
advanced IT program management and technical support of
modern information network and strived to facilitate paperless

office and recycling.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group fully complies with all laws and regulations and
regularly monitors and gathers information about changes in
laws, rules and regulations relevant to the Group’s businesses to
ensure the Group's observance of those applicable laws, rules and
regulations, especially those which may have material impact on
the Group.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Ng Chi Lung (Chairman)
Dr. Jiang Tao (Chief Executive Officer) (resigned on 31 May 2021)

Mr. Zheng Gang

Non-executive Director:
Dr. Liu Chenli (resigned on 1 December 2021)

Independent non-executive Directors:
Ms. Wong Ka Wai, Jeanne

Dr. Lam Huen Sum

Mr. Lau Tak Kei Arthur

In accordance with article 87 of the Articles of Association,
Mr. Ng Chi Lung, the executive Director and Ms. Wong Ka Wai,
Jeanne, the independent non-executive Director, will retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming

general meeting.

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management
Details of the
emoluments of the directors and the five highest paid individuals

are set on pages 20 to 22 of this report.

are set out in Notes 29 and 30 to the consolidated financial

statements, respectively.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICES CONTRACTS

Mr. Ng Chi Lung has been appointed as executive Director by
way of a letter of appointment with the Company for a period
of one year commencing from 23 July 2018 which will continue
thereafter until terminated by either party giving to the other

party not less than one month’s notice in writing.

Mr. Zheng Gang has been appointed as an executive Director by
way of a letter of appointment with the Company for a period of
one year commencing from 1 August 2007 which will continue
thereafter until terminated by either party giving to the other

party not less than one month’s notice in writing.

Ms. Wong Ka Wai, Jeanne has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director by way of a letter of appointment with the
Company for a period of one year commencing from 1 November
2007 which will continue thereafter until terminated by either
party giving to the other party not less than one month’s notice in

writing.

Dr. Lam Huen Sum has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director by way of a letter of appointment with the
Company for a period of one year commencing from 9 July 2018
which will continue thereafter until terminated by either party
giving to the other party not less than one month’s notice in

writing.
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Mr. Lau Tak Kei Arthur has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director by way of a letter of appointment with the
Company for a period of one year commencing from 4 October
2019 which will continue thereafter until terminated by either
party giving to the other party not less than one month’s notice in

writing.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has any service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of

compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF

SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Related party
transactions” below, no transaction, arrangement or contracts
of significance in relation to the Group's business to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
a Director or his/her connected entity had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at

any time during the year ended 31 March 2022.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March
2022.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group did not make
any charitable and other donations (2021: nil).
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS

ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standards of dealings by
directors of the Company as referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of

the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

(i) Interests in shares and underlying shares of the
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Company:
Number Approximate
of shares and percentage
underlying of the total
Name of Director Nature of interest shares Position issued shares
HE8T
f& {7 Bz tH R RipEHZ
E54 RmtE kRin&E Bl = d i
Mr. Ng Chi Lung Corporate interest (Note) 1,581,959,460 Long 56.13%
SEREEE rE R (M) wE
Personal interest 59,000,000 Long 2.09%
[EPNF 59}
Mr. Zheng Gang Personal interest 6,044,000 Long 0.21%
R & (EPN 3 wE
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Note:  The issued share capital of Solar Star Global Limited is Mizk: ERRIKAERATDZEZITRAH
owned as to 50% by Mr. Ng Chi Lung, 25% by Ms. Ng Si SREREE - RBRBELLIRERYR
Wing and 25% by Ms. Ng Yin. Mr. Ng Chi Lung is deemed T RIBEES50% 25%K%25% % o
to be interested in the shares and the convertible preference REFSRPEGRGAEXVE 2E
shares in which Solar Star Global Limited is interested in BRAERAANRERRKERAR
under Part XV of the SFO. BEHGZZROKRABRERRS
ARG
(ii) Interests in the issued share capital of the (i) RWEAFRHEBEEIEZERTREZ
Company’s associated corporation: =
Approximate
percentage of
shareholdings
in the
associated
Name of corporation’s
associated Capacity/ Number of issued share
Name of Director corporation Nature of interest shares Position capital
1 4R B
EBZB#IT
Beas 2z Bt
s HHEHEE 5B S RmitHE RSHE A LTS
Nil - - - - -
(iii) Interests in share options under share option (iii) BERQIEstEIE T 2 iBRatEiEx
schemes:
Number of
Exercise share options
Name of Director Exercise period price granted Position
gtz
ERn 1T TERE fBReEHE A
Nil - - - -
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the
Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had any
interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352
of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2022, other than the interests of a director or
chief executive of the Company as disclosed in the paragraph
headed “Directors’ and chief executive's interests in shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations” above, the interests and short positions
of persons in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

BEXFEEZEN R_EZ_5=AH8
=+—HBH EERFARAFETHAESHE
RAEQABDHEEABEEAE (EXRESF KR
BIRBIEXVED) 2 1ERIRH « BRI G &
B EALERNIREES R EERGAE352
BERAABGFEEZE M AR R
B HIREGEM L RAIZE5 46 E5.671RES
THERRBE KM Z A MERT LA

FERRICIRG RG22 &
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P EARN REES S —BRFAREDR
ABESERFETHAEBZERIN UTA
THRAEATRM REMKRMO P EELENIE
BEERIPEEMNEIBCRBERSTATEFEEZ
Bz R kX

Number of
shares/ Approximate
convertible percentage
preference of the total
Name of shareholder shares Position Capacity issued shares
HE#T
B {5, wIkRg RiEBHZ
RERBTE Exk¥uE Bfi 515 BmLaaLtt
Solar Star Global Limited (Note 1) 1,581,959,460 Long Beneficial owner 56.13%
ERRKERAR (1) Fa BHBEAA
Ms. Cheng Wai Yin (Note 2) 1,640,959,460 Long Interest of spouse 58.22%
BEErL (ME2) 153} AC B m
New Hope International (Hong Kong) 343,217,539 Long Beneficial owner 12.18%
Limited (Note 3)
HAEZER (B8 BRAE 5= BEmBEAA
(PFF5E3)
Southern Hope Enterprise Co., Ltd.* 343,217,539 Long Corporate interest 12.18%
(Note 3)
AAGEEEXRRAE (izE3) S, REIEE
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Number of
shares/ Approximate
convertible percentage
preference of the total
Name of shareholder shares Position Capacity issued shares
HBET
i1, =] 5 Rg AL ECE S
RERATE ErRHE Efi 15 BB S
New Hope Group Co., Ltd.* 343,217,539 Long Corporate interest 12.18%
(Note 3)
MEZERBRAE (MEE3) 9=} NEVE =
Tibet Hengye Feng Industrial 343,217,539 Long Corporate interest 12.18%
Co., Ltd.* (Note 3)
FARIEXBREXBRAE (MzE3) wE NEIREE
Mr. Liu Yonghao (Note 3) 343,217,539 Long Corporate interest 12.18%
Bk F A (MisE3) wE NEIREE
Ms. Liu Chang (Note 3) 343,217,539 Long Corporate interest 12.18%
g+ (MfsE3) wE NEIREE
Ms. Li Wei (Note 4) 343,217,539 Long Interest of spouse 12.18%
FHut (MsE4) wE fofBEm
Notes: M

(1) The issued share capital of Solar Star Global Limited is owned as to
50% by Mr. Ng Chi Lung, 25% by Ms. Ng Si Wing and 25% by Ms.
Ng Yin. Mr. Ng Chi Lung is deemed to be interested in the shares

and the convertible preference shares in which Solar Star Global
Limited is interested in under Part XV of the SFO.

(2)  Ms. Cheng Wai Yin is the spouse of Mr. Ng Chi Lung. Ms. Cheng
Wai Yin is deemed to be interested in the shares and the convertible

preference shares in which Mr. Ng Chi Lung is interested in under

Part XV of the SFO.
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(3) New Hope International (Hong Kong) Limited (“New Hope
International”) is interested in 343,217,539 shares of the
Company. The issued share capital of New Hope International is
owned as to 75% by Southern Hope Enterprise Co., Ltd.* which
is in turn owned as to 51% by New Hope Group Co., Ltd.* and as
to 49% by Tibet Hengye Feng Industrial Co., Ltd.# Both New Hope
Group Co., Ltd.* and Tibet Hengye Feng Industrial Co., Ltd.* are
owned as to 62.34% by Mr. Liu Yonghao, as to 36.35% by Ms. Liu
Chang and as to 1.31% by Ms. Li Wei. Mr. Liu Yonghao and Ms.
Liu Chang are deemed to be interested in the shares in which New
Hope International is interested in.

(4)  Ms. Li Wei is the spouse of Mr. Liu Yonghao. Ms. Li Wei is deemed
to be interested in the shares in which Mr. Liu Yonghao is interested
in under Part XV of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, the Directors were
not aware of any other person (other than the Directors and chief
executive of the Company) who had interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief
executive's interests in shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations” above, at no
time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
or of any other body corporate granted to any directors or their
respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were any
such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the directors, their respective spouses or children under 18

years of age to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

Save as disclosed, at no time during the year ended 31 March
2022 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, associated
companies, fellow subsidiaries or holding companies a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors or the chief executive
of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body

corporate at any time during the year.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

As at 31 March 2022, there was no outstanding share option.

The Company had adopted the share option scheme on 10

August 2011, and the terms of which are in accordance with the

provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules. The following

is a summary of the principal terms of the share option scheme:

(A) Purpose of the share option scheme

(B)

The purpose of the share option scheme is to enable the
Company to grant share options to the Eligible Participants
(as defined below) in order to recognise and motivate the
contribution of the employees of the Group and to provide
incentives and help the Group in retaining its existing
employees and recruiting additional employees and to
provide them with a direct economics interest in attaining

the long term business objectives of the Group.

Participants of the share option scheme

The participants (the "Eligible Participants”) of the share
option scheme shall be any employee of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries including any executive and non-executive
directors of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and any
suppliers, consultants, agents and advisers or any person
who, in the sole discretion of the Board, has contributed or

may contribute to the Group.
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(@)

(D)

(E)

(F)

Total number of shares available for issue under

the share option scheme

Under the share option scheme, the total number of shares
which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all share
options to be granted under the share option scheme and
any other share option scheme of the company must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the number of the issued shares
as at 17 August 2015, being the date of the annual general
meeting of the Company refreshing the scheme mandate
limit, which allowed the Directors to grant share options to
subscribe for up to 169,876,994 shares of the Company,
unless the Company obtains a fresh approval from the
shareholders of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the total of
169,876,994 shares available for issue under the share
option scheme, represents approximately 6.03% of the

issued share capital of the Company.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under
the share option scheme

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the
share option scheme in any 12-month period up to and
including the date of grant of the options must not exceed

1% of the total number of shares of the Company in issue.

The period within which the shares must be taken
up under a share option

The period during which a share option may be exercised
is determined by the Board at its discretion, save that such
period shall not be longer than 10 years from the date of

grant.

The minimum period for which a share option
must be held before it can be exercised
As determined by the Board upon the grant of a share

option.

©

(D)

(E)

(F)
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(G)

(H)

0

The amount payable on acceptance of a share
option and the period within which payments
shall be made

A non-refundable nominal consideration of HK$10.00 is
payable by the grantee upon acceptance of a share option,
where the grantee should accept or decline the offer of
grant of a share option within the date as specified in the
offer letter issued by the Company, being a date not later

than 28 days from the date upon which it is made.

The basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price of a share in respect of any particular
share option granted under the share option scheme shall
be a price determined by the Board in its absolute discretion
but in any event will not be less than the highest of: (i) the
closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which
must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of the
shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the share on

the date of grant.

The remaining life of the share option scheme
The share option scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years from 10 August 2011, being the adoption
date, until 9 August 2021.

(G)

(H)

U]
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for (i) the share option scheme adopted on 10 August
2011; (ii) the 98,500,000 non-redeemable convertible preference
shares allotted and issued in accordance with the sale and
purchase agreement dated 13 November 2009, no equity-linked
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares
were entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted at
the end of the year ended 31 March 2022.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SHARES

During the year ended 31 March 2022, there were no purchase,
sale or redemption of the Company's listed securities by the

Company or any of its subsidiaries.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to

existing shareholders.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated
financial statements and restated as appropriate, is set out on
page 188. This summary does not form part of the audited

consolidated financial statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Certain transactions which are undertaken in the normal course of
business, are also disclosed as related party transactions (see Note
34 to the consolidated financial statements), but none of which
constitutes a connected transaction or continuing connected

transaction pursuant to Chapter 20 of GEM Listing Rules.
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DIVIDEND POLICY
The Board has adopted a dividend policy on 8 November 2018,

which sets out the approach in recommending dividends, to
allow the Shareholders to participate in the Group’s profits and
for the Group to retain adequate reserves for future growth.
The Company’s ability to pay dividends will depend upon,
among other things, the Group's current and future operations,
financial position, development pipeline, prevailing economic
environment, contractual restrictions, capital and other reserve
requirements, dividends received from the Company’s subsidiaries
and associates, as well as any other conditions or factors which
the Board deems relevant. The form, frequency and amount of
dividend payment by the Company are subject to any restrictions
under the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company, the applicable laws and regulations of Hong Kong and
the Cayman Islands and any other laws and regulations applicable

to the Company.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board had adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) on 8 November 2018, which sets out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Company
considered diversity of board members can be achieved through
consideration of a number of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
integrity, management experience, technical skills, industry or
professional knowledge and experience. All Board appointments
are based on meritocracy, and candidates are considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity

on the Board.

The Nomination Committee had reviewed the Board Diversity
Policy to ensure its effectiveness and considered that the Group
had achieved board diversity for the year ended 31 March 2022.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Board had adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) on 8 November 2018, which sets out the approach to
determine the nomination of Directors, the procedure, process
and criteria to be adopted for the purposes of selecting and
recommending candidates for directorship, and shall make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors,
in particular, the chairman of the Board and the chief executive

officer.

The Company considered that, in assessing the suitability of a
proposed candidate, the nomination committee of the Board may
make reference to certain criteria, including but not limited to, the
experience in the Company principal business and/or the industry
in which the Company operates, balance of skills, knowledge and
experience on the Board, and various aspects set out in the Board

Diversity Policy.

The Nomination Committee had reviewed the Nomination Policy
to ensure its effectiveness and considered that the Board has
a balance of expertise, skills and experience required for the

business of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2022.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the employees of the Group is set
up by the Remuneration Committee and is based on merit,
qualifications and competence of employees.

The remuneration policy of the Directors is decided by the
Remuneration Committee having regard to the Group’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has applied the code provisions set out in the Code
"CG Code"”) contained
in Appendix 15 to the Listing Rules. Since its listing on the Stock

on Corporate Governance Practices (the

Exchange, the Company has complied with the code provisions of
the CG Code for the year ended 31 March 2022.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors of the
Company, the percentage of the shares which are in the hands of
the public exceeds 25% of the total number of issued shares as at
the date of this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING
PERIOD
Details of significant event occurring after the reporting period are

set out in Note 42 to the consolidated financial statement.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision that provides for indemnity
against liability incurred by Directors is currently in force and was
in force throughout the year ended 31 March 2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance, including a discussion
of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an
indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business,
can be found in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” in this report. The above section form part of this

Directors’ Report.

REVIEW OF THE FINAL RESULTS BY AUDIT
COMMITTEE

The Group's audited consolidated financial results for the year
ended 31 March 2022 were reviewed by the Audit Committee,
which was of the opinion that the preparation of such results
complied with the applicable accounting standards and

requirements and that adequate disclosures have been made.
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AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2022 were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng Limited who will retire at the forthcoming annual general

meeting and being eligible, offered themselves for reappointment.

On behalf of the Board

Ng Chi Lung

Chairman

Hong Kong, 17 June 2022
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Bl 4 & 3 & F % A R F
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Good
Fellow Healthcare Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 67 to 187, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of

significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the

Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgment,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. This matter was addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements
as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not

provide a separate opinion on this matter.
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Key audit matter

MBEEE

Impairment assessment on goodwill

CERT-RIT

Refer to Notes 19 and 20 to the consolidated financial
statements

B 2RGREMBRRMEE19K%20

The management performed impairment assessment
on goodwill allocated to each cash generating units
and concluded that impairment loss on goodwill of
approximately HK$6,108,000 was recognised during
the year ended 31 March 2022.
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o THEBE_Z__F=B=+—HLFE®ZD
2R ER518496,108,0008 7T °

This conclusion was based on value-in-use model
that required significant management judgement
with respect to the discount rate and the underlying
cashflows, in particular future revenue growth and
capital expenditure. Independent external valuation
were obtained in order to support management'’s
estimates
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How our audit address the key audit matter

EAETEAHMARIEMRENEE

Our procedures in relation to management’s
impairment assessment on goodwill included:

RAEMEERZBERENGEZREFEE

o Engaging our valuation expert to evaluate the
assumption and methodologies used in the
calculation;

s BHEHEEERTMGEHEMERANRRKLEE;

o Assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumptions based on
our knowledge of the relevant industry;

o FHMEFRERAB A EUKRERERAITERN B LA
FERRNEE Y

o Evaluation of management independent valuer’s
competence, capabilities and objectively;

o FMEEEBIUMGEMANEE -EHREEHN;

o Challenging the reasonableness of key
assumption based on our knowledge of the
business and industry; and

e ERENEMHEEFBRITEMAMELENEER
BRHMEEY; &

o Checking, on a sampling basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used.

o R EMERBABIEIERERAEME-

We found the assumptions, methodologies, the
judgement and estimates of the management were
supported by available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements

and our auditors’ report thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information
and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing

to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Companies Ordinance and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's

financial reporting process.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these

consolidated financial statements.

Independent Auditors’ Report
Bz BEMER S
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Independent Auditors’ Report
1B IR S

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS - continued

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s

internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a

going concern.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS - continued

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events

in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain

solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguard applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public

interest benefits of such communication.

Independent Auditors’ Report
Bz BEMER S
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Independent Auditors’ Report
Bz BEN R S

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS - continued

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this

independent auditors’ report is Tien Sun Kit, Jack.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Tien Sun Kit, Jack
Practising Certificate Number: P07364

Hong Kong, 17 June 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
mOEmKREMEERR=T R

For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 i ZE - E - —H#=A=+—HLIEE

2022 2021
—E-C B
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M5t F&ET FET
Revenue & 7 54,238 53,886
Cost of sales SHE R4S (27,578) (27,439)
Gross profit EFH 26,660 26,447
Other revenue H iz 8 2,132 4,437
Other loss and gain, net HipsiE R U > /358 9 - 129
Reversal of allowance for expected HthEWHRIEREEZ
credit losses on other receivables and  FTEHR{S B8 & # &0
deposits 553 1,273
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR Z W 15 31,683 =
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHER (20,902) (21,303)
Administrative expenses THEAX (41,447) (47,466)
Fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets RAFEFFAEREZ
at fair value through profit or loss ETMBEZATE
Wz, (B518) 18 1,538 (570)
Impairment loss on goodwill BEREEIE 20 (6,108) =
Loss from operations EEIEEE (5.891) (37,053)
Finance costs MEER 10 (1,655) (2,350)
Loss before taxation IR EiEs1E 1M (7.546) (39,403)
Taxation 1B 12 (1,319) =
Loss for the year KEEEE (8,865) (39,403)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(L A E (F548) iEF -
attributable to:
Owners of the Company KABHEEA (12,689) (30,183)
Non-controlling interests JEiERetE S 3,824 (9,220)
Loss for the year TEEEE (8,865) (39,403)

sHBRERSRAD 202120225  OF
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

moEmkHEMERRTER

For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 = — B _—H#=H=+—HLEE

2022 2021
"ol T —F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
= FHERT FHET
Other comprehensive income FTEEHMEEWE
for the year
ltems that may be reclassified HBAEMoHEEERZ
subsequently to profit or loss: ==
Exchange differences on translating MEBIIMNSE X
foreign operations ERZERE 538 536
Items that were reclassified to profit BEMDEEIEEZ
or loss: )=
Release of exchange differences upon KA & i /& 2 B) BF [0
disposal of subsidiaries ERERE 1,794 =
Other comprehensive income FEEHMEERE
for the year, net of tax npriE 2,332 536
Total comprehensive loss for the year & E 2 HEE5 548 ER (6,533) (38,867)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income  FE(LAEERE (5518) K
for the year attributable to: 4% -
Owners of the Company KABHEEA (10,638) (29,188)
Non-controlling interests FEIER S 4,105 (9,679)
(6,533) (38,867)
Loss per share attributable TATEE AW
to owners of the Company SieEsE
— Basic and diluted —EAKREE (BREW)
(HK cents per share) 14 (0.45) (1.07)
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these Bz MRz EREMBRRZ—8 D

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
EEMBRAR

Asat31 Mar2022 R _E_-__F#=B=+—H

2022 2021
—E-C —EC-—F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M 5E FET FET
Non-current assets ERHEE
Property, plant and equipment R 16 10,478 102,423
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17 10,217 8,670
Goodwill 5k 19 - 6,108
20,695 117,201
Current assets RENEE
Inventories =78 21 357 3,417
Trade and other receivables B 5 K EL fth FE W =R 18 e
and deposits & 22 14,245 22,289
Finance lease receivables R ERERIE 23 - 3,580
Financial assets at fair value BAFEFABRHZ
through profit or loss EREE 18 8,356 6,818
Cash and bank balances REKRIRITHEER 24 16,795 38,071
39,753 74,175
Current liabilities RENEE
Trade and other payables 85 REMELRIE 25 25,491 37,863
Lease liabilities HEaf 26 2,510 7,656
Borrowings EEN 27 = 5,844
Deferred revenue IRFEUWL A 28 = 3,956
Tax payables FETTRIE 1,227 11
29,228 55,330
Net current assets MEEEFE 10,525 18,845
Total assets less current liabilities BEHERTEARE 31,220 136,046

sHBREEARAD 2021202455 09



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
EEMBR AR

Asat31 Mar2022 R-—B=-_—"F=F=+—H

2022 2021
—E-- —E—F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M 5E FET FET
Non-current liabilities EREIEE
Borrowings &= 27 = 8,296
Deferred revenue IR IE U A 28 = 86,915
Lease liabilities HEad 26 4,853 7,935
4,853 103,146
Net assets BEEEE 26,367 32,900
EQUITY g
Capital and reserves B RS
Share capital [N 35 29,168 29,168
Reserves f#1E 423 11,061
Equity attributable to owners AT EE ANELER
of the Company 29,591 40,229
Non-controlling interests JEEERR RS (3,224) (7,329)
Total equity R 4REE 26,367 32,900
The consolidated financial statements were approved and FEMBRRN_EZIZEANA+TtHHE

=
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 17 June 2022 EEHEREETZE  THTIIESEKERE
and signed on its behalf by: Z

Ng Chi Lung Zheng Gang RERE Laiif ]
Director Director EX EZE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these BEM A2 EEGaMBRR 28D
consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REEmEEFR
FZA=+—ALEE

For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 &;

Attributable to the owners of the Company

FIETT

FRAREAEL
Non-
Share Share Capital Other Special  Translation Statutory  Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Sub Total interests  Total equity
2 &R ERfiE Rttt BhIE ER EEHE FithR Nt ERER RalE
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i FEn Fin Fin Fhn Fin FEn Fén FEn FEn Fén
At T April 2020 WoE-REME-R 29,168 440,289 295610 551 31315) (3081) 1173 (654970) 77425 (5,656) 71,767
Loss for the year FEERR - - - - - - - (30,183) (30,183) (9.220) (39,403)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, ~ KEEHMRAHR NRHE
net of tax
Exchange difference on translating BEENEBZERED
foreign operations - - - - - 995 - - 995 (459) 536
Total comprehensive income/(loss) FEERANE/ (B 48
for the year - - - - - 995 - (30,183) (29,188) (9,679) (38,867)
Change in ownership interest in WEARRERELZEZS (W3t
subsidiaries (Note 40) - - - (8,008) - - - - (8,008) 8,008 -
At31 March 2021 and 1 Aprl 2021 RZEZ-£ZA=+-Rk
Z3=-£MA-B W16 M0 29560 0en 613 2.086) B 685 02 7309 290
(Loss)fprofit for the year KEE (BB /&7 o o o o o o S (12,689) (12,689) 38 (8,865)
Other comprehensive income for the year, AEEEM2ENE NBHE
net of tax
Exchange difference on translating BEENERZERER
foreign operations - - - - - 257 - - 257 281 538
Release of exchange differences upon KA EHBATREREREE
disposal of subsidiaries - - - - - 1,794 - - 1,79 - 1,79
Total comprehensive income/(loss) FEERANE/ (B 48
for the year - - - - - 2,051 - (12,689) (10,638) 4105 (6,533)
Transfer to statutory reserve SREITHE - - - S S S 435 435) = S S
At 31 March 2022 RZBZZEZR=+-8 29,168 440,289 295,610 (7,457) (31,315) (35) 1,608 (698,277) 29,591 (3,224) 26,367
Notes: MisE :
(a)  The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences (a) ERFEEOEHRENRSBRINZEZ M

arising from the translation of the financial statements of operations

outside Hong Kong. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the

accounting policies set out in Note 3.

(b)  Other reserve represents the difference between the consideration (b)

paid for additional equity interest in a subsidiary without the overall

change in the control in that subsidiary and the carrying amount of

share of net liabilities/assets.

BREMELEZFRBIIEZE ZFHBDHRE
MiZE3FR &~ & St R R IE -

Hi#HEIEMN B AR RN (L REHN
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LEREE BEZIREAEMERZEZE-
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEEmEER

For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 = — B _—H#=H=+—HLEE

(c)

The special reserve represented the difference between the
Company's shares of nominal value of the paid-up capital of
subsidiaries acquired over the Company’s cost of acquisition
of the subsidiaries under common control upon change in
ownership interests in subsidiaries.

As stipulated by the relevant People’'s Republic of China (“PRC")
laws and regulations, the subsidiaries of the Company established
in the PRC shall set aside 10% of its net profit after taxation for the
statutory surplus reserve fund (except where the reserve balance
has reached 50% of the subsidiaries’ paid-up capital). The reserve
fund can only be used, upon approval by the board of directors and
by the relevant authority, to offset accumulated losses or increase
capital.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

(0 HHRFRERREQBGEFRBEZREARN
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RESHERNHRZEF TWERB QR MAE
ZEfe

(d) WRIFBEFREARSENE (THE)) BEEER
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AEHI10%MRMEBMEAN A EIERFHRFEES
BRIERBEEREEENBARNGSRESZ
50%) REFERAHRBNERHER
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FEeHREsRER

For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 i ZE - E - —H#=A=+—HLIEE

2022 2021
- —EZ—
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
(b FExT FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REEBZATHRE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before taxation PRI ARS8 (7,546) (39,403)
Adjustments for: AEIEE
Bank interest income IRITF S UA 8 (40) (824)
Bond interest income BHEFEWA 8 (204) =
Government grants BT # AL 8 (1,670) (2,550)
Interest expenses FERZ 10 1,655 2,350
Depreciation of property, ME- -BERSIBINE
plant and equipment 16 5,694 8,855
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 17 4,576 4,648
Fair value (gain)/loss on financial assets & AF{EAEBEZ
at fair value through profit or loss ETMEBEEZATE
(k) K518 (1,538) 570
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB ARz WaE 15 (31,683) =
Reversal of allowance HthEWRIEREEZ
for expected credit losses on FEHEEEERERE
other receivables and deposits (553) (1,273)
Impairment loss on goodwill EmERERIE 19 6,108 =
Operating cash flows before movements & B & £ & a1 2 K&
in working capital HERa (25,201) (27,627)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories EFEERLD 7 (Em) 2,421 (1,161)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other B 5 KEMEWIIER
receivables and deposits ¥R (380 3,526 (2,308)
Increase in restricted cash PRl 2R & 18 10 (4,458) =
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 R H Ath e 7RI 890 462
Increase in deferred revenue 4% 3E WS A SE AN - 31,933
Net cash (used in)/generated from 2% (FrA) /FrBR& 3%
operations (22,822) 1,299
PRC Enterprise income tax paid BPETEMER (103) (51)
Net cash (used in)/generated from REER (FRB) g
operating activities HEe B (22,925) 1,248

sHBREEARAD 2021202458 13
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
|\7I' | IE%/}ILE%

For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 = — B _—H#=H=+—HLEE

2022 2021
—8__ —EB—F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M 5% F#T FET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZHZHAESHE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received BUF & 244 824
Purchase of property, BEME -BERSKE
plant and equipment 16 (1,581) (22,454)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value BEERATEAEREZ
through profit or loss TRIEE - (6,672)
Repayment from finance lease FE IS b & F & R IE B R
receivables 3,700 4,020
Net cash outflow from disposal of HEMBARRE
subsidiaries TR 15 (168) -
Net cash generated from/(used in) KREEERE (FTA) BeF
investing activities L] 2,195 (24,282)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEEFHZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest paid BFE (852) (778)
Proceeds from borrowings (EENIEEE L 6,259 13,657
Repayment of lease liabilities EBEHEEaR (11,013) (8,049)
Net cash (used in)/generated from REES (FRA) P
financing activities WRE/FEE (5.606) 4,830
Net decrease in cash and RERRELHEER
cash equivalents WA BEE (26,336) (18,204)
Cash and cash equivalents FMZRERFEEEHIEE
at the beginning of the year 38,071 55,441
Effect of foreign currency exchange SEEREH 2 EE
rate changes 602 834
Cash and cash equivalents FRZRERFEEEEE
at the end of the year 12,337 38,071
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these BEMtz Mt AR EREaMBRR 2 —H D

consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mE M wRMEE

For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 % ZE —E - F=A=+—HLEE

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
28 May 2001 as an exempted company with limited liability.
The shares of the Company are listed on GEM (“"GEM")
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its immediate holding company is Solar Star
Global Limited and ultimate controlling party is Mr. Ng Chi
Lung, who is also the Chairman and Executive Director of the
Company. The registered office of the Company is Second
Floor, Century Yard, Cricket Square, P.O. Box 902 Grand
Cayman, KY1-1103, Cayman Islands. The Head office and
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
is located at Unit 3309, 33rd Floor, West Tower, Shun Tak
Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is the functional currency of
the Company, and the functional currency of most of its
subsidiaries is Renminbi (“RMB"”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in thousands of units of HK$
(HK$'000), unless otherwise stated.

The Company acts as an investment holding company while
its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of
general hospital services in the People’s Republic of China
(the "PRC"). The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set

out in Note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.
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RERERATTNARABEERHR
TEEZREREE AR EIEMME
Bz #Second Floor, Century Yard, Cricket
Square, P.O. Box 902 Grand Cayman,
KY1-1103, Cayman Islandse &R AT R &
BZEMBERTESEMBUNEE
FEEEH168-2005% E &0 P EE3318
3309F o
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7o) 250
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 = — B _—H#=H=+—HLEE

76

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual
period beginning on 1 April 2021 for the preparation of the

consolidated financial statements:

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, — Phase 2
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

In addition, the Group has applied the Amendment to HKFRS
16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June
2021.

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated

financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mE M wRMEE

For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 i ZE - E - —H#=A=+—HLIEE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) — continued
New and amendments to HKFRSs issue but not

yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not

yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS16
Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments?

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework'

Sales or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)?

Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

Definition of Accounting Estimates?
Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single

Transaction?

Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use'

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract!

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
Standard 2018-2020"

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2022.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023.

= Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

The directors anticipate that the application of the new and

amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the

consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs which is a collective term
that includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations issued
by the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is considered
material if such information is reasonably expected to
influence decisions made by primary users. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on GEM (the “GEM Listing Rules”) and by
the disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

Going concern assessment

The directors of the Company have, at the time of approving
the consolidated financial statements, a reasonable
expectation that the Group has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern
basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated financial

statements.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements - continued

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis
of making judgements about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimates are revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the consolidated
financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of
material adjustments in the next year are discussed in Note 5
to the consolidated financial statements.

A summary of significant accounting policies followed by the
Group in the preparation of the financial statements is set
out below:

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is historical cost except for
certain financial assets that are measured at fair value, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below. Historical
cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
of given in exchange for assets.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements - continued

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes
into account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for share
based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value
in HKAS 2 or value in use in HKAS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which

are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity

can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities (including
structured entities) controlled by the Company and its

subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to

one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when
the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability
to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally.
The Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether or not the Group's voting rights in an

investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

o the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative
to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote

holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote

holders or other parties;
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

- continued

Significant accounting policies — continued

Basis of consolidation — continued

o rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

o any additional facts and circumstances that indicate
that the Group has, or does not have, the current
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that
decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at

previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the

subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the

noncontrolling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies

into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of

the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

- continued

Significant accounting policies — continued
Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries

upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group's interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group's relevant components of equity and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes
in their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including re-
attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and the
non-controlling interests according to the Group's and the

non-controlling interests' proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity

and attributed to owners of the Company.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

- continued

Significant accounting policies — continued
Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries — continued

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i)
the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill),
and liabilities of the subsidiary and any noncontrolling
interests. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity
as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value
of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint

venture.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

- continued

Significant accounting policies — continued
Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business

less accumulated impairment losses.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of
cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the

synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when
there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than
its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the unit and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro-
rate basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly
in profit or loss in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent

periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the

determination of the profit or loss on disposal.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

- continued

Significant accounting policies — continued
Revenue from contracts with customers

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance

obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of

distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of

the following criteria is met:

J the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as

the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group

performs; or

o the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance

completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the

customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

Significant accounting policies - continued
Revenue from contracts with customers

- continued

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that

consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is

due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract

are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Provision of general healthcare services

Revenue from the provision of general healthcare services
is mainly derived from hospital services provided at the
hospitals, which is recognised when the related services have

been rendered to customers.

Revenue from the provision of out-patient services is
recognised at a point in time, i.e. when the services are

provided.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

- continued

Significant accounting policies — continued

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of

time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified, the Group assesses
whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date,
as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently

changed.

The Group as lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components, including contract for acquisition
of ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components, unless

such allocation cannot be made reliably.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-
lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-

lease components as a single lease component.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

Significant accounting policies - continued

Leases — continued

The Group as lessee - continued

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of office that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments
on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another

systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease

liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives

received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms

and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured a cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and

adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

- continued

Significant accounting policies - continued

Leases — continued

Right-of-use assets — continued

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-
use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the

shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line

item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and initially measured at
fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in the

cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily

determinable.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease

liability comprise:

o fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed

payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022

FEMBRREREEREKX
BEIHR-18

EXGHHEER-&

HE-&

EREREE &
HAEEGEREEHEEHERFNRG
HREEEENEAE BIAREE
B B ERfERFHE R AR T
E-DA EREEERHMGHIER
FHRKRAMANBEEUERERTE-

FEBRRGEMBRARARERESR
EE2NA—RERER-

AJREAERE
ENAUREEEZREREZFBUHFRS
ZRFIOREMIR ((EBMBREE
AISB95R)) ABRIEA G RATFEFE -
MG HERE Z AT EZHAERR S ES
HEMBL S AERAEEEZMRE -

HEAR

REERBBH AEEZREHRMGAE
ERERERIKTEHERE HA
ERSNMXBUEE BIFEEEE
RiEERKr B ARIEERENRA R EE
EMIENRE

stAREREENAENMEE !

s BEEHEMNNR (BEBEHEEEMNN
HAEMEKEEES



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mE M wRMEE

For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 i ZE - E - —H#=A=+—HLIEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

- continued

Significant accounting policies — continued

Leases — continued

Lease liabilities — continued

J variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

J the amount expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of purchase options, if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability s remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

J the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

- continued
Significant accounting policies — continued
Leases — continued

As a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract
is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified

as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at commencement date at amounts
equal to net investments in the leases, measured using the
interest rate implicit in the respective leases. Initial direct
costs (other than those incurred by manufacturer or dealer
lessors) are included in the initial measurement of the net
investments in the leases. Interest income is allocated to
accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate
of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in

respect of the leases.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for
the head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts.
The sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by
reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head

lease, not with reference to the underlying asset.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

Significant accounting policies - continued

Leases — continued

Sublease - continued

Finance lease interest income on the net investment in the
sublease is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the

financial asset.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the service, or for administrative purposes.
Property, plant and equipment is stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly

attributable to the acquisition of the assets.

Subsequent costs are included in the carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced
part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which

they are incurred.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

Significant accounting policies — continued
Property, plant and equipment - continued
Construction in progress in the course of construction for
production, supply or administrative purposes are carried
at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include
any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for
their intended use.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property,
plant and equipment, using the straight line method, over
their estimated useful lives. The principal annual rates are as
follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the lease terms

Machinery and equipment 20%
Furniture and fixtures 20% to 33%
Motor vehicles 20%
Office equipment 20%

The gain or loss arising from disposal of an asset is
determined as the difference between the sale proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost, which comprises all costs of purchase and,
where applicable, other costs that have been incurred
in bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition, is calculated using the first-in, first-out method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business less all estimated costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale
include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and
non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to make
the sale.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

Significant accounting policies - continued
Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right of use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets, to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the

extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-

generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit or group of cash-generating units to which the
corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of

cash-generating units.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

Significant accounting policies - continued
Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right of use assets — continued

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. If the
recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount.

For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis
to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying
amount of a group of cash-generating units, including the
carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of
corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-generating
units, with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit
or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is

recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

Significant accounting policies - continued
Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right of
use assets — continued

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a
group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a
group of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or

loss.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently

payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and it further excludes items that are never taxable and
deductible.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
— continued

Significant accounting policies — continued
Taxation - continued

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial

recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in

the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be

available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

Significant accounting policies - continued
Taxation — continued

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax

rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively

enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of

its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to

the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences relating to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised
at initial recognition and over the lease terms due to
application of the initial recognition exemption. Temporary
differences arising from subsequent revision to the
carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities,
resulting from remeasurement of lease liabilities and lease
modifications, that are not subject to initial recognition
exemption are recognised on the date of remeasurement or

modification.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

Significant accounting policies - continued
Taxation — continued

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes

levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation

authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is

included in the accounting for the business combination.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carries at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a

foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in

profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

- continued

Significant accounting policies - continued

Foreign currencies - continued

o exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings
relating to assets under construction for future
productive use, productive use, which are included in
the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an
adjustment to interest costs on those foreign currency

borrowings;

o exchange differences on transactions entered into in

order to hedge certain foreign currency risks; and

o exchange differences on monetary items receivable
from or payable to a foreign operation for which
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur
(therefore forming part of the net investment in the
foreign operation), which are recognised initially in
other comprehensive income and reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary

items.

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and
expense items are translated at the average exchange rates
for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of foreign
currency translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling

interests as appropriate).
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BANBRRENEBEEREKX

102

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

Significant accounting policies - continued
Foreign currencies — continued

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to

profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments to identifiable assets
and liabilities assumed through acquisition of a foreign
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing
at the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences

arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

Significant accounting policies - continued
Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will

be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the

obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to be
met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability and it

is not recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is
recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change in probability occurs,
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no reliable

estimate can be made.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

Significant accounting policies - continued

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, and have a short maturity of generally within
three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, including term deposits, which are not
restricted to use.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to
settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the
time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party,
a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain
that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

Significant accounting policies - continued
Employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, leave passage
and the cost to the Group of non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the period in which the associated services are
rendered by employees of the Group. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect would be material,

these amounts are stated at their present values.

Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit
plans under which the Group pays fixed contributions into
separate entities such as social security plans in the PRC,
and the Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
pay further contributions of any of the funds do not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to
employee services in the current and prior periods. The
Group’s contributions to defined contribution plans are

recognised in the financial year to which they relate.

Contributions to Mandatory Provident Funds as required
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance and to the state-managed retirement benefits
schemes for the employees of the Group’s overseas entities
are recognised as an expense in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as

incurred.

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when,
the Group demonstrably commits itself to terminate
employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary
redundancy by having a detailed formal plan which is

without realistic possibility of withdrawal.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

Significant accounting policies - continued
Share-based payment expenses

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in a capital reserve within equity. The fair value
is measured at the grant date using the binominal lattice
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon
which the options were granted. Where the employees have
to meet vesting conditions before becoming unconditionally
entitled to the share options, the total estimated fair value of
share options is spread over the vesting period, taking into

account the probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/
credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income for the year of the review,
unless the original employee expenses qualify for recognition
as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to the capital
reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share
options that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the
capital reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to not
achieving vesting conditions that relate to the market price
of the Company's shares. The equity amount is recognised in
the capital reserve until either the option is exercised (when
it is transferred to the share premium account) or the option

expires (when it is released directly to retained profits).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

Significant accounting policies - continued
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are interests and other costs incurred in
connection with the borrowing of funds. All borrowing costs
are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss

and other comprehensive income in the period in which the

costs are incurred.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group's

various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of
products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type of class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they

share a majority of these criteria.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued
Significant accounting policies - continued

Related Parties Transactions
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is

related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of

the Group or of a parent of the Group.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the

others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a

member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third

party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and

the other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BAUBHRRENEBEEREKX

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Gt R—4&

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

- continued

Significant accounting policies — continued BERgHEE-E&

Related Parties Transactions — continued REALRS &

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following (b) HETIIER —HEREERE
conditions applies: — continued ERRE: &

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for () ZEBDMDUSNEBRHAEEH
the benefit of employees of either the Group or FMEERZEEATT AN
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is BERAKBEFEE - EK
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are EEAXAGEEME  EM
also related to the Group. B ZzRERETEAERFGHA

Ho

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a (vi) ZERZEG)ENALES
person identified in (a). FHEEER o

(vii) A person identified in (a) (i) has significant i)y BQ@O)EWATHZERS
influence over the entity or is a member of the BEAXENEZER S BZ
key management personnel of the entity (or of a BRENEQAE) FEEEAS
parent of the entity). BB ©

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which (vii) BRI EABHEP—BZ2EM
it is a part, provides key management personnel EERBERAFAAEERT A
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent. EEBSRARRMEIEEIER

ABRF -
Close family members of an individual are those family B AT2Z2BUREREISTERIEE
members who may be expected to influence, or be ZATHERETEEIANEERT %
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity. ATHEENBRIXERS -
(a) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner; (@) BATZFLKREBIREMNSE
(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; (b) BATEBIARE#BZFL ;&
and
(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or (00 BATHZATEBIIKREHRE
domestic partner. A transaction is considered to be a BEENAL -BEAFZEBEER
related party transaction when there is a transfer of REENRZ BWRABBELR

resources and obligations between related parties. e

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction FEAZHEBEESERIAETENRS  #
when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between RARERRS

related parties.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

Significant accounting policies — continued
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in

the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in

profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying

amount on initial recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

Significant accounting policies - continued
Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;

and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting

contractual cash flows and selling; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in OCI if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business

Combinations applies.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REMBERREGHRELREK

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SHBE—E

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

- continued

Significant accounting policies - continued EXGHHR-B

Financial instruments - continued EMIAE-&

Financial assets — continued THMEE—&

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial ETHEEZTHERBEEE—E&

assets — continued

A financial asset is held for trading if: HWETIER ERMEENDTEARE

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of e WHEZTMEEZENIER®E
selling in the near term; or FABREE ; 5

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of e RIBHEIAR ZEMBEEALE
identified financial instruments that the Group EEREEZE#RNER T A4
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of B2 Ho LEHEBRIABERE
short-term profit-taking; or HAEMER ; 3

e itis a derivative that is not designated and effective as e ZEMEBEERFEEZTEIAR
a hedging instrument. KA BEREAR AT A

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial It 4 > 7 82 & BT 7R A 450 [B] i ié 78 42 148 8

asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost RASEXRATEEZBHEMZENRE

or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or FRZEMEEIREARATEEBIE

significantly reduces an accounting mismatch. mI Rz A E AR S LR REHBR

AR EEH BN
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

Significant accounting policies - continued
Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets — continued

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit— impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the determination that the

asset is no longer credit impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in the “other

gains and losses” line item.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

Significant accounting policies - continued
Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets and lease receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial
assets which are subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (including trade receivables, other receivables,
deposits and finance lease receivables). The amount of ECL
is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit

risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the

reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognised lifetime ECL for trade

receivables and lease receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since

initial recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

Significant accounting policies - continued
Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets — continued

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
guantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue

cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased

significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal

credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit

spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

- continued

Significant accounting policies - continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets — continued

Significant increase in credit risk — continued

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to

meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor;

J an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the

debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant

increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 i ZE - E - —H#=A=+—HLIEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

Significant accounting policies - continued
Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets — continued

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default

criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
of default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes

observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the

borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due

event;

FEMBREREREEREKX
BEIHR-E

EXGHHBER-&
EMIA-&

THEE-&
EHMEEZHERRENE—E

BUER

MABEERBREEMS  AEER
A HABERNEIIBRRAEFINE
HMETREFZATKTEREGBEA (B
BAEE) TR RERFEEFE
RYEfEIRm) - RIS LB M-

BENUEFRM  AEERD HEME
ERABBEIORKRZELEEN FIFE
ERECEYTENENERARERNE
WREBBARBRIER R -

EERENEREE
ERE-ENZTEHTMEEMREK
REREATINEENENERR £
MEELREERE-ZHEBEEGER
ENEREEUTIRERSE S

(@) BTAXERALRERMEE
B

(b) BH FIEERAHER ;

TREBREEFRAT 2021/2022 FiR

117



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 = — B _—H#=H=+—HLEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

- continued

Significant accounting policies - continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets — continued

Credit-impaired financial assets — continued

(¢) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower concession(s)

that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial

asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.

Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 i ZE - E - —H#=A=+—HLIEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

Significant accounting policies - continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets — continued

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets — continued

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The
Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables using a provision matrix taking into consideration
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition. For a lease receivable, the cash flows
used for determining the ECL is consistent with the cash
flows used in measuring the lease receivable in accordance
with HKFRS16.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables and lease
receivables are considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward-looking macroeconomic

information.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

Significant accounting policies - continued
Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets — continued

Measurement and recognition of ECL — continued

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration
the following characteristics when formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar

credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated

based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables
and other receivables and deposits where the corresponding

adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.
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For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 i ZE - E - —H#=A=+—HLIEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

Significant accounting policies - continued
Financial instruments — continued

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability
for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise
the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised

borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is

recognised in profit or loss.

FEMBREREREEREKX
BEIHR-E

EXGHHBER-&

EMIA-&

RILEISMEE
ENEEREREZGHNENE WS
HEETHMEERRZEERBREZIE
ABLRABEREOHREETS —HER
FEESERIIBITHMEE -HAE
B KRB ETRRENAEZERED
R BE R B LEEEREEREE
AXxEERISENEEZREN G RE
AXZEBAESHE HAEERE
EERTHMEEMBEZEBAIDER
RE® AIAEEREERIZEHEE
THEBEWMEREBEZRRFER

R IEREDIRBHR S EZEMEE
R BEREELZERKREBRABERE
ZEBRT IR -

TREBREEFRAT 2021/2022 FiR

121



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 = — B _—H#=H=+—HLEE

122

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

Significant accounting policies - continued

FEMBRREREEREKX
BEIHR-18

EXGHBER-&

Financial liabilities and equity instruments TRaEkkEITA
Classification as debt or equity SR EFEL R

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and

an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue

costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or

cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at

amortised cost using the effective interest method

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables, lease
liabilities and borrowings) are subsequently measured at

amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
- continued

Significant accounting policies - continued
Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
they expire. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration

paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Government Grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be

received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are
recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement
of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the

related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such

grants are presented under “other revenue”
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 4. £EMTIH
Categories of financial instruments EMIASE
2022 2021
ZEZ-F —EZ—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#7T FHET
Financial assets THMEE
Financial assets at fair value through BATEFABZEZEMEE
profit or loss 8,356 6,818
At amortised cost: R A
— trade and other receivables and deposits — B 5 REMEKRIERIES 7,186 14,961
— finance lease receivables —ERmEHREMRE - 3,580
— cash and bank balances —RERIBITLHEER 16,795 38,071
Financial liabilities ERMaR
At amortised cost: RS
— trade and other payables —B S REMERRRIE 23,768 37,863
— borrowings — &= = 14,140
— lease liabilities —fHEaE 7.363 15,591
Financial risk management objectives and policies MERMEEBRREE

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including currency risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely

and effective manner.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
Financial risk management objectives and policies

- continued

(a)

Market risk
The Group's activities expose it primarily to the
financial risks of changes in foreign exchange rates,

price risk and interest rates.

Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity

analysis.

There has been no change to the Group's exposure to
market risks or the manner in which it manages and

measures the risk.

Foreign currency risk management

The Group has minimal exposures to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in the functional
currencies of the respective subsidiaries. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy in respect of foreign currency transactions,
assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign
currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need

arise.
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
Financial risk management objectives and policies

- continued

(a)

Market risk — continued

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investments in equity securities and debt instruments
measured at FVTPL. For equity securities and debt
instruments measured at FVTPL quoted in The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Sensitivity analyses

The sensitivity analyses have been determined based on
the exposure to equity price risk at the reporting date.
For sensitivity analysis of equity securities and debt
instruments with fair value measurement categorised

within Level 1.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments and
debt instruments had been 10% (2021: 10%) higher/
lower, the post-tax profit for the year ended 31 March
2022 would increase/decrease by HK$836,000 (2021:
increase/decrease by HK$682,000) as a result of the

changes in fair value of investments at FVTPL.

Interest rate risk
No significant cash flow interest rate risk during
the year ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 as the

borrowings were bearing fixed interest rate.
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For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 i ZE - E - —H#=A=+—HLIEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Financial risk management objectives and policies

- continued

(b)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from bank
balances and deposits, trade receivables, and deposit
and other receivables and finance lease receivables.
The carrying amounts of these balances represent the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to

financial assets.

In respect of cash deposited at banks, the credit risk
is considered to be low as the counterparties are
reputable banks. The existing counterparties do not
have defaults in the past. Therefore, expected credit
loss rate of cash at bank is assessed to be close to zero
and no provision was made as of 31 March 2022 and
2021.

In respect of the deposits, other receivables and
finance lease receivables, the credit quality has been
individual assessed by general approach with reference
to historical information about the counterparties. The
Group recognised the allowance for expected credit
losses by assessing the credit risk characteristics of
deposit, other receivables and finance lease receivables,
discount rate and the likelihood of recovery and

considering the prevailing economic conditions.

4. EMITHR-&
SRS EEREREE -8

(b) SEEM KR EFE

FEREZEERBREERBIRT
BEiEkEm BB BWRIEREE
BUR: B Ath & WUk TR e FE UL B E 7R
ERIE - ZEERNIREENAZR
EEMEREERARNRAREE
LB

MEBRREBTHNREMS > BNY
FHAGFEREFNRT WEER
BRASBRB - BAHFAIRBE
WHEELN - FHIL RITHSNVTER
FEBERFTHEFRT UK
BE_Z__FRIEZ—F=
A=+—RHiIEstREE-

PIEE  HtEKREREWEE
HEREMS  FEERESEY
FHEELEHNREB—MRGEE
HEBHL - FEBBEBTGEE
E HMBKRBEREKRRERES
MEZEERBFE - MRERK
[O] A A€ 1% I & f8 2 Al A5 AR 0
REMEERRZEE-
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 4.
Financial risk management objectives and policies
- continued
(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment
- continued
The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment

comprises the following categories:

Internal credit

EMIA-E&
MBEREEERREE &

(b) EEEMKRETE—

FEBAMEERARD KFEE

EUT R -

Other receivables,

deposits and financial

Rating Description lease receivable
HithW KRB -RER
AEBIEE T4 it FEW R B R B RRIA
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and 12-months ECL
does not have any past due amounts
9N HFELFHNENRBERE BXEBEMBEEABRIE 128 EBREEHIE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk Lifetime ECL — non-credit
since initial recognition through information impaired
developed internally or external resources
ZX BHEREDLUR BBEANBERNERNS EHRTEIEEEE-
SNERE TR S E R R REEIE BmEERE

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit- Lifetime ECL — credit impaired
impaired

ES FRBETEEEHRERSRE EHTRREERE-EE

Written-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in ~ Amount is written-off

severe financial difficulty and the Group has no

realistic prospect of recovery

i gH EEBETNEFAENBREMBRBEEAEEL MHSHE

BERWKOR R
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
Financial risk management objectives and policies

- continued

(b)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

- continued

As part of the Group's credit risk management,
the Group applies internal credit rating for other
receivables, deposits and financial lease receivables.
The following table provides information about the
exposure to credit risk for other receivables, deposits
and financial lease receivables which are assessed on a

general approach.

4. EMITHE-&

MERMEERRRBE &

(b) EERAMEREFE—&

FRr-EREERREEN—&
DoAEEHEMBWRIE RS
REWBMEBERERBAIRE
B R TRIEHARE—RAGE
AMERHMEKRIE REREW
MEAEMENEERRNKO
ZEH# -

Gross carrying amount AR AR 1
2022 2021
k- bt 3 IET-F
Other
receivables,
Other deposits and
Average receivables Allowance Average finance lease Allowance
loss rate  and deposits ECL loss rate receivables ECL
HitEWIE
HittEWE BEHiEE BREREW FHEE
YRR kg BiREE THEBRE REAENE BIEEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 % HK$'000 HK$'000
Internal credit rating MEEETS TET TET TEn TEn
Low risk (12-month ECL) BERE (12ERRHEEESE) 8.6 7,597 656 26 11,838 307
Doubtful (Lifetime ECL non-credit BH RHEREESE-
impaired) BEERHE) - - - 17 7,729 902
Loss (credit-impaired) Bk (EERE) - - - - - -
1,597 656 19,567 1,209

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group
the reversal of allowance for the expected credit loss
related to the other receivables, deposits and finance
lease receivables was amount of HK$553,000 (2021:
HK$1,273,000).

BE_Z-_“H#=RB=+—HIL
FE -AEEMEMREMERR
B -RekBHREHEEREZE
HE B8R % [E553,000
BT (ZTEIZ—4:1,273,0008

T
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Financial risk management objectives and policies

— continued

(b)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

- continued

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9,
which permits the use of the lifetime expected credit
loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics. The
Group has performed historical analysis and identified
the key economic variables impacting credit risk and
expected credit loss. It considers available reasonable
and supportive forwarding-looking information.

The Group makes periodic assessments on the
recoverability of the receivables based on the
background and reputation of the customers, historical
settlement records and past experience.

The Group, being a provider of general healthcare
services to patients, has a highly diversified customer
base, without any single customer contributing
material revenue. However, the Group has
concentrated debtors portfolio, as majority patients
will claim their medical bills from governments’
social insurance schemes. Certain patients’ costs
will be reimbursed by other government bodies. The
reimbursement from these organisations may take one
to six months. The Group has policy in place to ensure
the treatments and medicines prescribed and provided
to such insured patients are in line with respective
organisations’ policies and within reimbursement limits,
provided fulfilling all ethics and moral responsibilities
as healthcare provider. The Group also has controls to
closely monitor the patients’ billings and claim status to
minimum the credit risk. For those balance not covered
by social insurance scheme, the management assessed

the collectability based on historical patterns and data.

4. EMITHR-&
MRS EERERIE 8

(b)
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
Financial risk management objectives and policies

- continued

(b)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

- continued

In view of the history of business dealings with the
debtors and the sound collection history of the
receivables due from them, management believes that
there is no material credit risk inherent in the Group’s

outstanding receivable balance due from these debtors.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group
do not provide any impairment allowance for trade
receivables (2021: HK$Nil) as the trade receivables
mainly represent public and health insurance programs
balance which the credit risk is considered to be low

and expected credit loss rate are close to zero.

4. EMITHR-&
SRS EEREREE -8

(b)

S8 B B i B 5T 1h — 48

EZRIBEAZFEHBANES
13 2R e FE U1K 35 TR BY R 4 WA
itk EEERRTEERKESE
BHEANKEERBRBEGRSE
BUBEERGEERR-

HREZBRURETEEEER
BRAABRBEFREREEGEER
BEIRZEZRHARBERRE
BER BB E_T__F=A8
=+—HEFE FxEBLERE
ZREWRIR RIEFRBERE (2

T EE) o
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 4. ERMT A&
Financial risk management objectives and policies HEBERAREEEERBE &
— continued

(b) EEEMRKREF LB

(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment

- continued

RIE__FER_E-_—%F=H
—t+—HzESBHERASHEZH

The closing loss allowances for other financial assets

at amortised cost as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 P P ES Lt
reconcile to the opening loss allowances as follows: VERREHENT
Other

receivables,

deposits and
finance lease Other
receivables receivables
(Lifetime ECL and deposits
non-credit (12-month
impaired) ECL)

H {th FE U

MIE-#E

R FEUR R
BHEMRE H {th FE Uk
(ZHAFERA MEREE
EEEBER- (12E87EH
®|IEEIANE) EEHEH)

HK$°000 HK$'000

FAT FET

At 1 April 2020 RZE_ZEFMA—H 2,140 342
Reversal of loss allowance recognised FERRIBHERZ

in profit or loss during the year, net K538 #0548 (1,238) (35)

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 WRIZTZE-_—S=ZHA=+—HX
—_E_—FmA—H 902 307
(Reversal)/provision of loss allowance FERNIBHEERZ
rescognised in profit or loss during iR EE (8E) FHE
the year, net JRRE (902) 349

At 31 March 2022 MW-ZE-—#=HA=+—H = 656
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
Financial risk management objectives and policies

- continued

(c)

Liquidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management
rests with the board of directors, which has built an
appropriate liquidity risk management framework
for the management of the Group's short, medium
and long-term funding and liquidity management
requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by
maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and
reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring
forecast and actual cash flows and matching the

maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities as well
as derivative and certain non-derivative financial assets
which are included in the maturity analysis provided
internally to the key management personnel for the
purpose of managing liquidity risk. For non-derivative
financial assets, the tables have been drawn up based
on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the
financial assets including interest that will be earned
on those assets except where the Group anticipates
that the cash flow will occur in a different period. For
non-derivative financial liabilities, the tables reflect the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required
to pay. The tables include both interest and principal

cash flows.

4. EMITHR-&
SRS EEREREE -8

(c)

RBEEEMRER
EXCRAENDESAREEZ
RREE MEFEERI—ES
BzRBETEAREEREER AU
EEAEEZEH FHRRAE
ERGHESEEER - KNEME
BRETRZEHE RITEERMH
BEERE URFEHRAIKRE
RETREETER LEkSTH
BERBRZIBBER BUEE
RBEERE -

TERFAHIFEBZEMER
ETETAEURETIFTEER
BEZFBRSHOHAR Bt ARMH
FRBEIEEEABZHRS M
NEERBESRAR -MIFTES
MEEMS> TROERTMEE
ZRUMBESOINERE (BEZSE
BEERBRINZAME) MAER EX
EEEARRABHRBEEZR
EREMRI -BIETTEERMEET
S PRRBERAEERRERM
MZEFHHZEMBEZRE
RRERE- TRYEEANESRE
BERTRE-
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 4., ERMTA-&
Financial risk management objectives and policies MBEKREEBRREK &
— continued
(c) Liquidity risk management - continued () FBESEREE-&H
At 31 March 2022 W-—f-=-—#£=ZA=+—H
Weighted
average
effective Within Within Total
interest Within 1to2 2to Over undiscounted Carrying
rate 1 year years 5 years 5years  cash flows amount
MigFsY REER
kS - -EREA  WELEAR BBLE REMBMRE IREE

% HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TEn TEx TEn TER TEn T&n

Non-derivative financial EiEERER
liabilities
Trade and other payables BaREMEMTIE - 23,768 - - - 23,768 23,768
Lease liabilities HEER 1.5 2,962 2,962 2,222 - 8,146 7,363
26,730 2,962 2,222 - 31,914 31,131
At 31 March 2021 w2 —%=H=+—H
Weighted
dverage
effective Within Within Total
interest Within 1t02 2t0 Over  undiscounted Carrying
rate 1 year years 5 years 5 years cash flows amount
mEEH KRER
ETIES £  -ERFRA  WELER BBLE REREBLE IREE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TERT FTiER TER TERT THERT
Non-derivative financial EiiEEmam
liabilities
Trade and other payables B REMEMTIE - 37,863 - - = 37,863 37,863
Lease liabilities HEaE 9.2 7,004 799 6,394 3,631 17,828 15,591
Borrowings (R 8.0 6,975 8,960 - - 15,935 14,140

51,842 9,759 6,394 3,631 71,626 67,594
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Fair value measurements
The following note provides information about how the
Group determine fair values of various financial assets and

financial liabilities

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are measured at fair value
on recurring basis

The following table gives information about how the fair
value of these financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined (in particular, the valuation techniques and input

used).

TRMITA-&

AT(EHE
UTHFREEAAERNAEESE
TRHEERETHEBEATEZER-

BREGEEBEUATEAEZSEH
THEEREMARZATE

TRRERHABMUNANEEXSFEREER
ERMBRZATEZEN (REMS &
BRERFIBZBARE) -

Fair value  Valuation techniques and
Fair value as at hierarchy key inputs
RUTEBZAFE ATEER “EFIRTEHARE
31 March 31 March
2022 2021
—%-C St -
=A=+—H =A=+-H
HK$°000 HK$'000
FER FTHT
Financial assets
EHEE
Financial assets at fair value through 8,356 6,818 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in

profit or loss

BATEAARGZZEHMEE

an active market

R RERTISZRE

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, there
were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level
1 and Level 2, and there were no transfers into or out of

Level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities.

The carrying amount of all other assets and liabilities were

approximate to their fair value.

RBE_E__FrZIE-—%=H
=S+—HLEEE tREERTHEE
BIMRE2RZELEEAFEFEE
% BN EEREIMEAREY -

EHEMBEERBRZREELZEAT
(EEE=
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt (which
include lease liabilities), cash and bank balances and equity
attributable to equity holders of the Company, comprising
issued share capital and reserves.

TMITA-&

BXEmEE
FEBEEHEAURRAEDZE
RRERESE TRBEBCEFHRIE
HmERARRERERALIR NBEF
B> mERZEERBIERTE-

FEBZEXGBEERY (BFHE
&R RERRITEFRURTAE ER
REABERET (BEEETREIKRMH
) °

Gearing ratio B a|tE
The gearing ratio at 31 March 2022 and 2021 was as A BRI TERIEI—F=A=1+—
follows: HzEXREBGELERNT :
2022 2021
—F-- T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ERT FHET
Debt (note (a)) &% (Mi5E@)) 7,363 29,731
Cash and bank balances REKRIRITHERR (16,795) (38,071)
Net debt A N/A FiEH N/A 738 B
Equity (note (b)) B (BdEE(b)) 29,591 40,229
Net debt to equity ratio FEBHERLLE N/A FiBH N/A 738 F
Notes: BiEE -

(a) Debt comprises lease liabilities and borrowings as detailed in
Notes 26 and 27 respectively.

(b)  Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group.

As a part of review, the management considers the cost
of capital and risk associated with each class of capital.
Based on recommendation of the manager the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, the issue of new shares and new debts.

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies
which are described in Note 3, management has made
certain key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that may have a significant risk in causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below:

Gt FHEERRZEERIE

I FE PR SE 3Pt 2 A S B & 5t BUR
EEEBEMFHETARRERURNREKS
HRZAEHTRERRZEMEEZRIR
ZEERR HBAAEERT—EHM
BREEREERBRREELREKRH
B HEmAWT
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5. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY - continued

(a) Estimated impairment of property, plant and

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022

equipment, right-of use assets and goodwill

Plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
stated at costs less accumulated depreciation, if any.
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires
an estimation of the recoverable amount of the CGU
to which goodwill has been allocated, which is the
higher of the value in use or fair value less costs of
disposal. The value in use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the CGU and a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value. Where the
actual future cash flows are less than expected, or
change in facts and circumstances which results in
downward revision of future cash flows or upward
revision of discount rate, a material impairment loss
or further impairment loss may arise. For impairment
assessment, the Group has to exercise judgment and
make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether
an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect
the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an
asset can be supported by the recoverable amount,
in the case of value in use, the net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon the
continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate
key assumptions to be applied in estimating the
recoverable amounts including cash flow projections
and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU
to which the assets belongs. Changing the assumptions
and estimates, including the discount rates or the
growth rate in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the recoverable amounts. Further, the
cash flows projections, growth rate and discount rate
are subject to greater uncertainties in the current year
due to uncertainty on how the Covid-19 pandemic may
progress and evolve and volatility in PRC.

5.

Gt rEERRZ EERIE
— 48
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5. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY - continued

(a)

(b)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of use assets and goodwill

- continued

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amounts of plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and goodwill
subjected to impairment assessment were of
approximately HK$10,478,000, HK$10,217,000 and Nil
(net of accumulated impairment loss of approximately
HK$146,850,000) respectively (2021: HK$102,423,000,
HK$8,670,000 and HK$6,108,000). Details of the
impairment testing of non-financial assets including

goodwill are disclosed in Note 20.

Provision of ECL for trade and other
receivables, deposits and finance lease
receivables

The loss allowances for financial assets are based
on assumption about risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Group use judgment in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group's past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates

at the end of each reporting period.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and the
Group's for trade and other receivables, deposits and

finance lease receivables are disclosed in Notes 4(b).

5. EstFRERRZEERR
— 48

(a)

(b)

ME -BERRF ERAEEE
LA R i & R {5t iR (E — 48

RIEZZHE=B=+—H #%
BETENRERZE FERHE
BEUARBENERAER NS
10,478,000 75~ 10,217,000 7T
REET (KINRERERIEY
146,850,000 7m) (ZEZ—%F .
102,423,000/ 7T~ 8,670,000 7T
$26,108,00087T) - BRIIEERE
E (BEEE) BENSA N BN
FE201 R o

BZRHEMEBWRE -BER
EWREHERAZARER
BREAE
TREEZGREBEEDENEE
WERKRFARBERERAEMZ KRR
FEERMFHZEIRIKEEHR
BEAEZAARBERREAER
ZBEEL EAHRUARRER
& RASR 2 A BE N £ 51 52 AR HU B

R EERREZBFEHEFED
BRABRK -AMBAREEEREUR
FEBZEZREMBURRIE %
TRERREEBERBEZER/R
Bt 5E4(b)IR 22 o
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported internally to the chief operating
decision maker (“CODM") for the purpose of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses
on types of goods or services delivered or provided. The
Group is principally engaged in provision of general hospital
services in the PRC.

Accordingly, the Group does not present separately segment
information. No analysis of the Group’s results by type of
works nor assets and liabilities is regularly provided to the
CODM for review. In addition, all of the Group's revenue is
generated in PRC and all of the Group's assets and liabilities
are mainly located in PRC. Accordingly, no business or
geographical segment information is presented.

Geographical information

The Group principally operates in PRC, also the place of
domicile. All revenue are derived from PRC based on the
location of services delivered and the Group's property, plant
and equipment are mainly located in PRC.

Information about major customers

No information about major customers is presented as no
single customer contributed over 10% of total revenue of
the Group during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.
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REVENUE 7.

An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows

Wiy 2
AEEAEEWHZAFMTF :

2022 2021
g ZEZ—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FAET
Revenue from contract with customers REFERREIRZERGHURE :
recognised at a point in time:
Provision of general hospital services RS M EPRARTS 54,238 53,886

All revenue contracts are for one year or less. As permitted
by practical expedient under HKFRS 15, the transaction price
allocated to unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

FREBEEARBE—FRUT -RES
ABYBREERB1SRBEREE S A
I ARERBTEONXZERRT

REE -

OTHER REVENUE 8. Hfthiyss
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—%
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ERT FHET
Government grants (Note 28) BRF 5 B (FF5E28) 1,670 2,550
Government subsidy (note) AT #EEh (PMEEE) — 576
Finance lease interest income MERENEWA 120 420
Bank interest income IRITH B A 40 824
Bond interest income BHEF2WA 204 -
Sundry income IR A 98 67
2,132 4,437
note: Fft 5
During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group successfully RBEE_T-_—F=HB=+—HLILHE
applied for funding support from the Employment Support Scheme B xEERINBEFHEBRINITHRE
under the Anti-epidemic Fund set up by the Government of the BRZIINBERERE SR ETE
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, the purpose of which BT ZEEEALERMERE
is to provide financial support to enterprises and to retain their BB ERZENE T - RE(R
employees who would otherwise be made redundant. Under the MEBNER AEBMEFEBABA
terms of the Employment Support Scheme, the Group is required BHE UEMBETARENEILR
not to make redundancies during the subsidy period and to spend T RBE_SE__F=HA=+—HL
all the funding on paying wages to its employees. During the year FE > AEBRURKEIZEZED-

ended 31 March 2022, no such funding support was received.
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9. OTHER LOSS AND GAIN, NET 9. HthESEKR W=D  #8
2022 2021
—E-—fF —=-—%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Exchange gain, net R FEE - 129
10. FINANCE COSTS 10. A BER
2022 2021
—E-—F —=-—%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Interest on: UTEEZHE
— borrowings — &= 852 778
— lease liabilities —HEAaE 803 1,572
1,655 2,350
GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022
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11. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

1. BRIRAIEE

2022 2021
—EZZ —E-—fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#T FHET
Directors’ remuneration (Note 29) EEWNE (FsE29) 3,625 5,357
Other staff’s retirement benefits scheme H B T ZRKREH T EIHR
contributions 1,166 1,060
Other staff costs (including salaries and HMEBTHA (BEHEKR
bonuses) TE4T) 26,696 23,068
31,487 29,485
Auditors’ remuneration ZEEM AN &
- Audit services —BHRT 636 653
— Non-audit services —IEBE RS 130 -
Fair value (gain)/loss on financial assets at AT EHABZZERMEEY
fair value through profit or loss (Note 18)  AF{& (W) K548 (Hf3E18) (1,538) 570
Reversal of allowance for expected credit ~ HfhEWFIE RS REWRE
losses on other receivables, deposits and HMEREZEREERE
finance lease receivables, net BERELOIEEE (553) (1,273)
Impairment loss on goodwill (Note 20) &R EEE (MiEE20) 6,108 -
Cost of inventories sold BEEFEME 9,443 8,368
Depreciation of property, W2 BB R EITE (Mi5E16)
plant and equipment (Note 16) 5,694 8,855
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 17) {EFR#EEERNE (MzE17) 4,576 4,648
Expense relating to short-term lease BRAGHEEZHX 717 932
Provision of payment of BABEESR ()
liquidated damages (Note 41) 1,697 -

TREBREEFRAT 2021/2022 FiR
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12. TAXATION 12.
The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on
profits arising or derived from the jurisdictions in which
members of the Group are domiciled and operate. Provision
on profits assessable elsewhere has been calculated at the

rates of tax prevailing in the countries in which the Group

BiiE

FEEDEREREEEAEEMEABME
REEREHEELENREZBREAEERE
ZEMBEEGMFASHR EthtE
BRRENBEEDRELSEEEHLE
PREBRRZBEREG 2R KREMNRE

operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and HMIRITIREHE -
practices in respect thereof.
2022 2021
—EZC —E-—%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT TFET
Current tax: BNHERFRIE ©
- PRC Enterprise Income Tax —FRE R ERER 1,319 =

GOOD FELLOW HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021/2022
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12. TAXATION - continued 12. IRIE—4&
A reconciliation of the income tax expense applicable to loss BARBDRENWE A BB RAED
before taxation using the statutory rate for the location in AEREHEERARMRRAIBIENR
which the Company and its subsidiaries are domiciled to the SHAXHARERREXAENIRIER
tax expense at the effective tax rate are as follows: THIHEENT :
2022 2021
—$__C B —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Loss before taxation IRIR ARS8 (7,546) (39,403)
Notional tax on loss before tax, BERREARB R LR
calculated at rates applicable to WA ZREHE ZBRIRAT
profits in the tax jurisdiction concerned BEZEERE (860) (8,589)
Tax effect of income not taxable BEAMRZBMAZRBEE
for tax purposes (8,305) (851)
Tax effect of expense not deductible A2 RBERE
for tax purpose 3,886 2,465
Tax effect of deductible temporary RIS A R G M ERE
difference not recognised ZRBHE 1,512 =
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERREBEZRBEE 5,086 6,975
Taxation MIE 1,319 -
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12. TAXATION - continued 12. RIE—48

146

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of HK$22,814,000 (2021: HK$43,573,000)
available for offset against future profits and amount of
HK$11,349,000 will expire in 2027, HK$6,478,000 will
expire in 2026 and HK$4,987,000 will expire in 2025. At
the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences of HK$6,048,000 (2021: HK$Nil). No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
unutilised tax losses and the deductible temporary difference
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. At
the end of the reporting period, the aggregate amount
of temporary differences associated with undistributed
earnings of a subsidiary for which deferred tax liabilities
have not been recognised was approximately HK$244,000
(2021: HK$274,000). No deferred tax liability has been
recognised in respect of these differences because the
Group is in a position to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that such

differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

According to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law (“EIT Law"),
starting from 1 January 2008, 10% withholding income tax
will be imposed on dividend relating to profits earned by
the companies established in the PRC in the calendar year
2008 onwards to their foreign shareholders. For investors
incorporated in Hong Kong which hold at least 25% of
equity interest of those PRC companies, a preferential rate of
5% will be applied. The Group has applied the preferential
rate of 5% as the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are directly
held by an investment holding company incorporated in

Hong Kong.

Under the EIT Law and Implementation Regulation of the
EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both

years.
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REBEEHA AEEBZERBARE
$53822,814,0008x (ZEZ—F .
43,573,000 70) A AEIREH R EF] »
BH$&%811,349,0008 TR St &
EIHA~ £%86,478,0008B TN ZE 2K
FERNHE R £ %E4,987, 0008 TR -8
ZEFIBHo-RBREHR AEEBAA
R SR =%86,048,0008 T (ZF
——F:THn) -ARAREFRREZ
RelfERM  MEEMHEKBAZRE
BHEEINRERMEERDELERE
BE-RBREHFX BE—HKWBARZ
KARBABRAMEKEDRERIES
BN YRR ELEA#A244,00087T (ZF
—%F 1 274,000 7T) - MEMZE

BPELEREEE FRAETERER
HEHERMEREENEDRRE M
ZE A BB RN RGRAGEE -

|
B o

REBEFEEEMBHRE (TEXMBR
) CBZEREENF-—A—HE RH
MEFERINABBE_ZTNEESE
AR A EIRIMNRRB RS &
W10%TEMFBIR - W EEEEM
MIIBFAZEREARBEL25%KE
NREE  BREHS%XNEBEERF AR
FEBEFENWBLRARIH—HES
AEMEINKREERATDEEEE
MAEBRS BN BERRGMIRE -

RIEPETCEMREBRERTERSRZE
BiES > FEMBATDRMEEEZ
MEHEYAH25% -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mE M wRMEE

For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 i ZE - E - —H#=A=+—HLIEE

12. TAXATION - continued

13.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly,
the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity
is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the
estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated

assessable profits above HK$2 million.

No provision of Hong Kong Profits Tax, Bermuda and BVI
Income Tax has been made, as the Group did not generate
any assessable profits in these jurisdictions during the years
ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

DIVIDENDS

The directors of the Company do not recommend the
payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 March
2022 (2021: HK$Nil).

12.

13.

MIE—&
BRESEMNERBEEMAHE  5ER
EEEERME2,000,0008THABE
8.25% 4 > M #8482,000,00078 7T 8934
FIAIZEIZ16.5% B - FREFFRM
ERBFNEEESBN RN EER
EERE16.5% M - FHit > SEERE
EERNEsrERMREHNEF2,000,000
BITIES 25% st EEBHBHR > MEA
2,000,000 T 89 ff 5t FE SR 1R s &) Bl 3%
16.5% st HEBFEH -

FEFTEAIREBENESRUARERE
REBERHEEMBRER FRAH
EIECCERIEZI—F=ZR=4+—
ALtFERZERiEBERBEEELET
Al FEERFRIEF]

[:35)
FABERLFRZMBE_T__
ZA=+—HLEFERERHERE (Z

T—F . FHBT)
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14

15.

. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the

following data:

(a) Basic

14.

FAEGHE
RATGEE NS IR A R H 51
ThIR I T B st

(a) B

2022 2021
g —EZ—F
Loss attribution to holders of ordinary ZAQAB EBERIFE AE(LEE
shares of the Company (HK$'000) (F#mT) (12,689) (30,183)
Weighted average number of BERTEBERZMETHH
ordinary shares in issue (‘000) (Fr) 2,818,250 2,818,250

Diluted
For the year ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, diluted

loss per share is the same as the basic loss per share.

(b)

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 23 August 2021, Edinburgh International Hospital
Management Limited (“Edinburgh International”), an
indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into the disposal agreement with independent third
party, Fujian Pu Yang Hu Lan Investment Co., Ltd. (BEH
HGERREAREMEAT), pursuant to which Edinburgh
International and the Fujian Pu Yang Hu Lan Investment
Co., Ltd. agreed to sell and acquire the entire equity interest
of Edin Hospital Management (Putian) Co., Ltd. (BT &%
EI2 (BMA) BRAT) (together with its subsidiary, “the
Target Group”) at nil consideration (the “Disposal”). All
the conditions set out in the disposal agreement have been

completed on 15 September 2021.
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(b) #H
HE_Z__FR-_T_—F=
BA=+t—BHLEE SkR#HEER
HEREXBIRER -

HEME AR
RZEZ_—FN\BZ+=H BTEH
HREREEARARE (BTEERK > &
REIZHEZIEZTEMBAT) BBIE
CHREEREREERREEAR]
THERZ Bt BT EERKERE
BEEREEAREEATARELHER
BEETERERE (BH) BRAE (&
EHEKBAS > TBEREE) 228K
B REAZS (THEEIE) - HEWRERR
HZFBERHEER-_E-_—FHAA+EH
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15. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES - continued

Summary of the effects of the disposal of the Target Group

are as follows:

15. HEMBAR —&
HEEEEEY ZERRNT

At
15 September
2021
R —%
AB+EHEH
HK$'000
FHET
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which kEZHIENEEREGBEIF
control was lost:
Property, plant and equipment ME-BERZE 89,612
Right-of-use assets EREEE 5,063
Inventories =78 639
Other receivables H th FE UL R I8 4,506
Cash and cash equivalents REKRREEMEIER 168
Trade and other payables B 5 REMEARIE (27,520)
Borrowings EEN (20,619)
Deferred revenue RIEU A (76,008)
Lease liabilities HEaE (9,318)
Net liabilities disposed BHE&SERE (33,477)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMBAR ZUNE !
Net liabilities disposed of BEHEaERE 33,477
Release of translation reserve PRIRIE#E (1,794)
Gain on disposal HE W= 31,683
Net cash outflow arising on disposal of HEBEEREE ZRES RN FE .
the Target Group:
Cash and cash equivalent balances disposed of BHERERREEEEBE &R (168)
sHBREEARAR 2021202 %% 149
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For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 HE_E__F=H

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

=t+—HLEEE

16. V¥ -BERRKE

Furniture Machinery
and Leasehold and Motor Office Construction
fixtures p S Equif t vehicles Equipment in progress Total
HRERE HENEERE HaRkRE RE MAZRME EEIR tH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THER FERT TER TER TER TER
Cost )ﬁﬂi
As at 1 April 2020 ZECZEMA-A 5,311 16,079 11,240 5,379 4,573 60,346 102,928
Addition ﬁ’s% 7 = 3,883 150 1,986 17,118 23,144
Transfer 23] - 76,875 - - - (76,875) -
Exchange realignment ERBE 433 2,699 961 93 305 5,090 9,581
As at 31 March 2021 and RIE-—-F=B=+-HK
1 April 2021 ZEZ-£MAE-AH 5,751 95,653 16,084 5,622 6,864 5,679 135,653
Addition HRE 310 = 300 - 971 = 1,581
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 15) HEMBAR (HE15) = (80,889) (4,530) - (2,384) (5,810) (93,613)
Exchange realignment ERHE 234 1,730 589 53 183 131 2,920
As at 31 March 2022 RZIEZZ#=A=+-H 6,295 16,494 12,443 5,675 5,634 - 46,541
Accumulated depreciation Ritine
As at 1 April 2020 RZBZZEMA—H 3,770 8,542 3,692 2,571 4,025 = 22,600
Charge for the year rEEZH 977 5,394 1,810 150 524 = 8,855
Exchange realignment ERAE 332 849 366 48 180 - 1,775
As at 31 March 2021 and RZEZ-£=A=+-HBkK
1 April 2022 ZEZZEMA-A 5,079 14,785 5,868 2,769 4729 = 33,230
Charge for the year FEEZY 193 3,569 999 572 361 - 5,694
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 15) HEMRBAR (HE15) - (2,841) (736) - (424) - (4,001)
Exchange realignment ERHE 204 557 242 30 107 = 1,140
As at 31 March 2022 RZEZZ#=A=+-H 5,476 16,070 6,373 3,371 4773 - 36,063
Net Book Value IREBE
As at 31 March 2022 RZE--#=B=+-AH 819 424 6,070 2,304 861 - 10,478
As at 31 March 2021 RZIEZ-%=A=+-H 672 80,850 10,216 2,853 2,135 5,679 102,423
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. EHERE
Leasing
Properties
HEME
HK$'000
FHET
Cost: s :
At 1 April 2020 A ZEEFENA—H 16,123
Exchange realignment BE 52 A B 993
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 A _E_—F=-BA=+—HK
—_E_-FMA—H 17,116
Addition during the year (note) FRRE (MsH) 11,135
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 15) HEMBAR (ME15) (6,682)
Elimination BUH (10,788)
Exchange realignment BE 72 FA B 354
At 31 March 2022 RZZE__F=ZA=+—H 11,135
Accumulated depreciation and impairment loss: RiHFE KA ERE :
At 1 April 2020 A ZEEFMNA—H 3,522
Charge for the year AEEZH 4,648
Exchange realignment PE 52 FA E 276
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 WZE-_—F=B=+—HBxK
—_E_—FmA—H 8,446
Charge for the year KEEZH 4,576
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 15) HEMB AR (MizE15) (1,619)
Elimination BH (10,788)
Exchange realignment PE 52 SR EE 303
At 31 March 2022 RZE__F=A=+—H 918
Net carrying amount: IREEE -
At 31 March 2022 R-®-_—%=A=1+—H 10,217

At 31 March 2021 RE_—F=H=+—H 8,670
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17.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS - continued

note:

Lease liabilities of HK$7,363,000 (2021: HK$15,591,000)
are recognised with related right-of-use assets of
HK$10,217,000 (2021: HK$8,670,000) and the finance lease
receivables of HK$Nil (2021: HK$3,580,000) as at 31 March
2022. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants
other than the security interests in the leased assets that are
held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security

for borrowing purposes.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group leases
a office and a property for its operations. Lease contracts
are entered into for fixed terms for 2 years and 3 years
respectively. Lease terms are negotiate on an individual basis
and contain different terms and conditions. In determining
the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applied the definition of a
contract and determines the period for which the contract is

enforceable.

Details of total cash outflow of leases for the year ended
31 March 2022 and 2021 is set out in the consolidated

statement of cash flows.
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A _E_F=-A=+—H BER
HE&A®E7,363,0008 T (28— —
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EEW%EEWMEﬁﬂﬁomEﬁE

T EERRBERT
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18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 18. RAFEAHHZEMEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2022 2021
—E°F "T_—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#T TFET
Financial assets at fair value BMATFBEHABSZSZESREE
through profit or loss:
Listed securities held for trading: BEEBEZ FHES
— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong —NEEHE T ZRAES 565 388
— Debt instruments listed in Hong Kong —REBLTZEHITA 7,791 6,430
8,356 6,818
GOODWILL 19. BHE
2022 2021
—EF C"T_—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#HT FET
Cost [57%:Y
At 1 April and 31 March RUB—BR=B=+—H 146,850 146,850
Accumulated impairment losses FitiR{EEE
At 1 April REA—H 140,742 140,742
Impairment loss recognised ERRHERE 6,108 =
At 31 March W=RA=+—H 146,850 140,742
Carrying amounts IRE(E
At 31 March R=A=+—H - 6,108
Note: Bk -
Particulars regarding impairment testing on goodwill are disclosed in EREERENS ZFBRESHMBRERM
Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements. 20 5 o
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20. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON 20. FEMEE (BEHE) BER
NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS INCLUDING =
GOODWILL
The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more rEESFETHERENS HEW
frequently if there are indication that goodwill might be KRBT 2 A AE R E > Bl 88 4R & A
impaired. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill H-MAEARMS BEESRET
has been allocated to the following cash generating units FIREEEBM GREELENM) - R
(CGUs). The carrying amount of goodwill as at 31 March EC_ER_E-—F=A=+—8"
2022 and 2021 are allocated as follows: HEZIREESENT :
2022 2021
T T
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FHET
Beijing Zijing Hospital Co., Limited IEREHBRERAT
("Beijing Zijing”) provision of general (TIE R & HI L) RAPERH
hospital service in the PRC FEEUBRRT = 6,108
In addition to goodwill above, property, plant and equipment MRLEmEZN  EEREREZY
(including allocation of corporate assets) and right-of X BERREB (BRECEEESER) &
use assets (including allocation of corporate assets) that FHREEE (BRECEEEDMR) 'ERB
generate cash flows together with the related goodwill HEHEEENAAZSEREESE M U
are also included in the respective CGU for the purpose of FETRET G

impairment assessment.
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20. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON
NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS INCLUDING
GOODWILL - continued

General valuation assumptions

Vi.

Vil.

viil.

there will be no major change in the existing political,

legal and economic conditions in the PRC;

save for those proposed changes on taxation policies
announced by the Tax Bureau of the PRC, there will
be no major change in the current taxation law and
tax rates as prevailing and that all applicable laws and

regulations on taxation will be complied with by CGUs;

the interest rates and exchange rates will not differ

materially from those presently prevailing;

the availability of finance will not be a constraint on
the forecast growth of CGUs operations in accordance

with the business plan and the projection;

the business forecast are based on reasonable grounds,
reflecting estimates which have been arrived at after
due and careful consideration by their management

and will materialise;

the facilities, systems and the technology utilised by
CGUs do not infringe any relevant regulations, laws

and Government directives;

all equipment and facilities utilised by CGUs can
perform efficiently and safely according to the

purposes for which it was designed and built;

CGUs have obtained all necessary permits and
approvals to carry out the business operations in the
PRC and shall have no legal impediment in renewing

those permits and approvals from time to time;

. FEMEE (BEEE) HER
Eit_

8

—RRfE{ER=

Vi.

vil.

viii.

PERFHNBOR ERENEERR
mEAREE;

BRRERBEREMNZEFRT
HREZEHI > BRINKRE AR
RETHRERFIGHBEERES
MREELEBEURETHREER
MBERRIER

MERERRAGRRITHERR
BXAERER;

MEZAHEERTEREES
EEBMBREBAERARAE
HESRAER

EBRADENRGEEREL P
RN EFDEREEEEES
REERSEH ERTFLUER

REELENUFTAORE  RER
B A 808 R AE AR RESE IR R 2
REFES

REEXEMUFMANMESRER
R RBRERRGREERN
BBRBEMRZERER;

REELXENUEBNSMAYES
kit MNP EETERE
B URNAREEZSTA Rt
EDEAGHEARER
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20. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON 20.
NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS INCLUDING
GOODWILL - continued

General valuation assumptions - continued
ix. CGUs and their operating assets are free and clear of
any lien, charge, option, pre-emption rights or other

encumbrances or rights whatsoever;

X.  CGUs shall secure and retain competent management,
key personnel, marketing and technical staff to carry

out and support the their operations;

xi.  CGUs shall renew the tenancy of the hospital premises
from time to time and shall have uninterrupted rights
to carry out its business operations within the hospital

premises on long term basis; and

xii. the estimated fair values do not include consideration
of any extraordinary financing or income guarantees,
special tax considerations or any other atypical benefits

which may influence the ordinary fair value of CGUs.
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20. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON

NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS INCLUDING
GOODWILL - continued

Beijing Zijing — Provision of general hospital
services in the PRC

The recoverable amount of this CGU is determined by the
directors with the reference to professional valuation report
issued by an independent firm of professionally qualified
valuers which were based on a value in use calculation
which uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management covering a 5-years period (2021:
5-years period), and a pre-tax discount rate of 14.04%
(2021: 14.26%) per annum.

The cash flow projections during the budgeted period are
based on the same expected gross margins of 49.2% (2021:
49.0%) throughout the budget period. The cash flows
beyond that five-year period have been extrapolated using
2.40% growth rate (2021: 3.00%) per annum which is

based on the inflation rate in PRC.

The Directors considered the increasing of the operating
cost and expected revenue would be dropped due to
Covid-19 restriction policies in Beijing in early 2022 and
assessed the recoverable amount of CGU based on value
in use of approximately HK$20,800,000. According to the
valuation report, the carrying amount of the CGU exceeds
its recoverable amount and impairment loss of goodwill of
approximately HK$6,108,000 (2021:HK$Nil) was recognised
during the years ended 31 March 2022.

20. FEMEE (BEFHE) BER

#l— 48

ITEEFA-RPERMESHEER
Bk 75
IEREESLEMZAKEESERERL
SEREXCERGEMARNBEILR
GIRBERAEENEE N EEGKER
SRET MILBREDREBEFEREES
HET MERBERBREEERMME
ZHREREHR CE—F . HFEH W
BHEEMSEZEERERA > UK
MR BMIRESF14.04% (ZT=Z—
F11426%) 58

EHIAAZEESREEN HEREME
FEEANERZBRAENZELI9.2% (Z
T —F 149.0%) stE - REFEFEZ
BR= - ZLFHBEZRERECEE
240% (ZEZ—HF 13.00%) ZEEER

EFEEZRALRR -_E__F4H
Covid-19PR il B 5k & B0 48 & By S 38 AN i
FEHA U & P& > W ARHRA920,800,00078
TEAEETGEREEEEMZ IR
ElE£f - REGERS REELE
ZIREEBAHATKEEEE UTREE
TR CHF=A=+—HULFE®RIH
B ERE%96,108,0008 T (Z T - —
F.THT o

TREBREEFRAT 2021/2022 FiR

157



158

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=R R e

For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 = — B _—H#=H=+—HLEE

21. INVENTORIES 21. 786
2022 2021
—E__F B4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Finished goods SR & 357 3,417

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
DEPOSITS

22. B REMBWRIERES

2022 2021
— T C"T_—%
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FAET
Trade receivables B 2RI 245 183
Prepayments TR 7,059 7,328
Other receivables and deposits HhEWRIE g & 7,597 15,987
14,901 23,498

Less: Allowance for expected credit losses i : EMERRIERIZEZ
on other receivables and deposits TEHAE B R EE (656) (1,209)
14,245 22,289
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For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 i ZE - E - —H#=A=+—HLIEE

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

23.

DEPOSITS - continued

Payment terms with customers from general hospital and
healthcare and hospital management services are normally
payable from 0 to 30 days (2021: 0 to 30 days). The
following is an aged analysis of the gross amount of trade

receivables based on invoice date at the end of the reporting

22.

BR REMEBURERRES

— 8
BENBRRBRRBREERBEER
2 A R —BAROE30R (B —
£ 1 0Z30R) P AT o RIS R
=AM E 5 KRR E 2 IR DI
mF :

period:
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—%
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#T FHET
0 to 90 days 0ZF90H 245 183
245 183

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables and deposits for the years ended 31 March 2022
and 2021 under expected credit loss model of HKFRS 9 are
set out in Note 4(b).

FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES

The Group entered into sublease arrangements as an
intermediate lessor for the leased properties. The rental are
fixed over the lease term and the terms of subleases entered
into 3 years and the sublease is classified as a finance lease
by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head
lease. The effective interest rate is approximately 7.5%
(2021: 7.5%) per annum for the year ended 31 March
2022. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company
recognised the finance lease interest income of sublease was
amount of approximately HK$120,000 (2021: HK$420,000).

23.

RIBEEBUMBREENFIORZTARE
BEFEEER BHE_S-__E£K_F
T F=A=+—HLEEZEFRH
R IEU RIS ETHF B
R EE4(b) o

YR EHREMRIE

NEEMMEEMETLLHELH (EA
RREHEAN) AR ZHEEEE KRS HE
HRA=FEESHSETHEEENE
AREEEDEAMEHEE-BE_T
ZZE=RA=+—HLEENEREAN
RANTS% (CEZ—F:175%) HE
ZE_HF=ZA=+—HLEE ERQ
FARRDEEEZMERENEBRAL
120,000 7T (ZE=—4% : 420,000%

JT)ie
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For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 = — B _—H#=H=+—HLEE

23. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES - continued 23. FEFI EAEHIE— &

The finance lease receivables have been settled during the EURMEEERBEBEREE-_SE -
year ended 31 March 2022. =R=+—HLFEEHB-
As at 31 March 2021 R-E_—F=ZRB=+—H
Present
value of
minimum Minimum
lease lease
payments payments
REHEE REHEE
MIERE FRIE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Finance lease receivables comprise: FEWRERERESE .
Within one year —FR 3,580 3,700

Less: Unearned finance income B RBIRMEBEWA (120)

Present value of minimum lease payment  R{XEWEERIBRE

receivables 3,580
Analysed as: PRI
Current R 3,580
Details of impairment assessment of finance lease receivables FEW R B FE B RIE 2 B E T EH R
are set out in Note 4(b). ftsE4(b) o
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For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 i ZE - E - —H#=A=+—HLIEE

24. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

24. B& R IRITEER

2022 2021

—e—— —E=——

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Cash and bank balances RERIRITHEER 16,795 38,071
Less: Restricted deposit B ZREITFER (4,558) =
Cash and cash equivalent HEckFEEEEER 12,337 38,071

As at 31 March 2022, cash and bank balances of the
Group included currencies denominated in Renminbi
("RMB"”) amounted to approximately HK$12,278,000
(2021: HK$19,372,000). The RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies, but conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies is subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through

banks authorisation to conduct foreign exchange business.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’'s bank balances of
RMB3,612,000 (equivalent to HK$4,458,000) was restricted
due to the civil complaint filed with the People's Court
of Qianhai Shenzhen City by China Merchants Hainan

Development Investment Co, Ltd. (Note 41).

Bank balances are deposits with creditworthy banks with no

recent history of default.

RZEZZF=A=+—H &x&@EZ
RERBTEREEUARE TAR
#) sHEABA12,278,0008 T (ZF
Z—% 119,372,000 7T) ZHE - AR
KATERRRAHMEE BEARE
S SN TH JR B <P R B 2 S BE B IR
fIREE-EBERCESERE  &&
EREEZBEEEETIEER ZIRIT
BARBRGAHME.

RZIEZZHF=R=+—H AEH
RemARERERRAT M RIAE
BFEAREREER FHFAK (M
41) > REBARYE3,612,0007Tt (FBE R
4,458,000 7t) BIER1TAS BRAB R4S ©

RITERANEH L EERERCEHEE
FEREFIRITZHER
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For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 = — B _—H#=H=+—HLEE

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25. ES RHEHMEGRIE
2022 2021
—E-= &
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Trade payables B 5 mIE 1,497 5,357
Accruals and other payables (note) FEEt & A R E MR IE (i) 23,994 32,506
25,491 37,863
note: B 5% -

As at 31 March 2022, the accruals and other payables
mainly represent the funds advanced by China Merchants of
RMB12,130,000 (equivalent to HK$14,973,000) and the provision
of payment of liquidated damages of approximately RMB1,400,000
(equivalent to HK$1,697,000), the construction cost due to the
constructors of amount HK$Nil (2021: HK$19,206,000) and accrued
salaries of amount HK$2,150,000 (2021: HK$4,892,000).

The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date

RIE__H#=RB=+—H E:tERAKRE
HMEMRETEIERARNRANTESARE
12,130,0007c (ABE 714,973,000 75) UK
BHEESBENAR,400,0005T (HE
51,697,000 7m) - ENREBZERERE
EHT(CTEZ—4:19,206,00087T) RESH
52,150,000 7T (Z2 - —4 : 4,892,000
HBIT) ©

REZBHZESBRIRBEZRE DN

is as follows: wmT
2022 2021
—E"HF B4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT THET
0 to 90 days 0&E90H 840 4,300
91 to 180 days 91E180H 583 -
181 to 365 days 181%FE365H 2 1,030
Over 365 days #8iB365H 72 27
1,497 5,357

The average credit period on purchases of certain goods is in
range from 30 to 90 days (2021: 30 to 90 days).
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For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 i ZE - E - —H#=A=+—HLIEE

26. LEASE LIABILITIES 26. HE AR
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT TFET
Lease liabilities payable: EEHEEAE:
Within one year —FER 2,510 7,656
Within a period of more than one year but —FE&EFRBBERELR
not exceeding two years 2,698 473
Within a period of more than two years but MEREBFRBB R ELHRM
not later than five years 2,155 1,205
Within a period of more than five years AE EHAR - 6,257
7,363 15,591
Less: Amounts due for settlement within A ER12B A AT ZRIE
12 months
Shown under current liabilities RREBEETIIT (2,510) (7,656)
Amounts due for settlement after FER 128 B B4 ZRIE
12 months
Shown under non-current liabilities RIERBBREETIIR 4,853 7,935
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to ERREEEGEZMEFEHEEEE
lease liabilities is 7.5% (2021: range from 7.5% to 10.0%) KB 5% (ZCEZ_—F . NEIS%E
10.0%) °
sHBREEERAD 202120255 163
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For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 = — B _—H#=H=+—HLEE

27. BORROWINGS

27. B

2021
—E-—
HK$'000
TET
Secured borrowings EIBER 14,140
Carrying amounts of borrowings are repayable: FERMU THABEEERZREE :
Within one year —F R 5,844
Within a period of more than one year but not —E#&EREBMELR
exceeding two years 8,296
14,140
Less: Amounts due within one year shown B RREAaBEET
under current liabilities SRR —FERN BN ZHRIE (5,844)
Amounts shown under ERBEBE TR ZHRIE
non-current liabilities 8,296
As at 31 March 2021, the short-term secured borrowings A B —F=ZRA=+—HB KB\

from independent third parties of approximately
HK$14,140,000 were secured by 100% equity share of
Edin Hospital Management (Putian) Company Limited. The

borrowings were repayable within 12 months and charged at

fixed interest rate 8% per annum.
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28. DEFERRED REVENUE 28. IBEEW A
2021
B
HK$'000
FHET
Government subsidy BT #E BN 90,871
Less: Amounts shown as current liabilities B R RSEEE T RZEEE (3,956)
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities RIERBEBE TR SLE 86,915

As of 31 March 2021, Edin Hospital Management (Putian)
Company Limited, a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, received a subsidy of RMB66,763,000 (equivalent
approximately HK$79,129,000) from a government
agent, which related to the start-up operation fee subsidy
according to the cooperation agreement. For the details of
the cooperation agreement, please refer to the Company
announcement dated 26 September 2018 and 12 October
2018.

The amount has been treated as deferred income. The
amount is transferred to income over the useful lives of
the relevant assets. This policy has resulted in a credit to
other income during the year ended 31 March 2022 of
HK$1,670,000 (2021: HK$2,550,000). As at 31 March 2022,
an amount of HK$Nil (2021: HK$76,492,000) remains to be
amortised as Edin Hospital Management (Putian) Company
Limited was disposed during the year ended 31 March 2022.
Details of disposal of subsidiaries are set out in Note 15.

On 31 July 2020, a government agent and Edinburgh
International Hospital Management (Shenzhen) Co. Ltd.
("Edinburgh Hospital Management”), a non-wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group, entered into a cooperation
agreement, pursuant to which, among others, the
government agent has agreed to provide funding for the
operation of the diabetes center that will be operated by
Edinburgh International Diabetes Hospital (Hainan) Co. Ltd.
("Edinburgh International Diabetes”) non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group.

HE_S_—&E=B=+—H 'RES&
EWHZE KRB ZIEZERBRATET
EREE (BR) ERAABEBRARE
AN ERREETEERPDARE
66,763,0007c (HHER#79,129,0007%
7T)) cERSEmEZHE B EE2EA
REHPA-_E—-N\NEAAZ+BXK
ZE-N\E+A+ZBHZAL-

ZHEEHEMRAIELEWRA > IR AR
BEENTHHARAEEEZIA ZK
REH1,670,0008T (ZE - —%F:
2,550,000 7m) st ABBEZ 2 - "F=
B=1+—HLEFEEMKA -BRER
BE_ T __F=ZHA=+—HLFER
BETEREIE (BH) ERARAHE
MR _E__F#=R=+—H'E&x
(ZZB=—% 76,492,000 T) WL
MEEEH ARAHENBRAR ZHBEH
RHizE150

RZE_SF+tHA=+—H ' BFRE
ANEXEFZFEZENBARNETER
REREE (R ARAR (BETER
RE®R) STUAFHE Bt (HPha
B BRAEAERSMEERKRBTP
ODREES ZPORBAFERZIFR
BENBRABET ERHKRERFER (OB
) BRQTE (T2 T ERRERRK) &

o
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For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 = — B _—H#=H=+—HLEE

28. DEFERRED REVENUE - continued

As of 31 March 2021, Edinburgh International Diabetes,
received the first funding of RMB12,132,000 (equivalent
approximately HK$14,379,000) from the government agent
which related to the operation expenses subsidy according to
the cooperation agreement. For the details, please refer to
the Company announcement dated 18 August 2020.

The amount has been treated as deferred income and
transferred to other income once the relevant expenses have
been occurred and approved by the government agent. No
government grant have been recognised during the years
ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, due to the
litigation as disclosed in Note 41, the deferred revenue
of approximately RMB12,130,000 (equivalent to
HK$14,973,000) which transferred to other payable.

28. IBIEUWA — 4B

BHE_ZT”_—F=-HA=+—H'BTE&E
(2] A% 08 PR 7 U B BT (U A IR IR & 1R 15
ENEEHEENSTHMBEREEAR
#£12,132,0007T (FHE 52 4914,379,000%
7o) cBRES B2RAN AT HSEAZ
ZTZFENA+N\BHZ R

B MR IAR A IR WA I AR X
HLWERAFAE AN ERBERE &
EHMBA - RBE_ZE__Fr_-F
_—H=ZRA=+—HLEFELERDME
e AT # B

BE_Z-__F=-B=+—HILEFE"
HRME4 IR BEZHR BERE
HMEMRBBZEERANBARE
12,130,0005T (B E#214,973,00058 7T) ©

29. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 29. EEME
The remuneration of every director for the years ended 31 REERBE_S-__FER-FE=-—
March 2022 and 2021 are set out below: —B=t+—BLIFEZ#HMMERETIUW
T
Retirement
benefits
Salaries and scheme
Fees other benefits __contributions Total
ik HEREMER BERIER 5 B HTR st
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-C —E-—4F ZB-"HF _E-_-5 B —_FT--F ZBZZ B &
HK$'000 HK$1000 HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FET THERT THT TERT THT FERT THT
Executive directors YTES
Ng Chi Lung BERE - - 1,320 1,350 18 18 1,338 1,368
Jiang Tao BEW_S——-&

(resigned on 31 May 2021) AR=+—HFE) - - - 1,690 - 18 - 1,708
Zheng Gang g ] - - 1,829 1,777 18 18 1,847 1,795
Non-executive directors FHRITESR
Liu Chenli 2B (B —5F

(resigned on 1 December 2021)  +ZA—HEHE - - 80 120 = 6 80 126
Independent non-executive BUFRTES

directors
Wong Ka Wai, Jeanne BEE 120 120 - - - - 120 120
Lam Huen Sum R 120 120 - - - - 120 120
Lau Tak Kei, Arthur AEE 120 120 - - - - 120 120

360 360 3,229 4,937 36 60 3,625 5,357
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION - continued

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors or chief
executive officer as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the
directors or chief executive officer has waived or has agreed

to waive any emoluments during both years.

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

Senior management emoluments and five highest
paid employees

The five highest paid individuals during the year included
two (2021: three) directors. Details of whose remuneration
are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial

statements.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the details of the
remuneration of the remaining three (2021: two) non-

directors, highest paid employees are as follows:

29.

30.

EFME &

RBEE_T-__FR-ZF-_—F=H
S+—HLEFE rEERTERESN
THESX ARSI EMBEEAER
HEAMBESHBEREE KM ESF
ER BEEFHTHRAXERENE
EREREMME-

& S il &
EREEBASMERIAREHE
8

FRALBEFALTOERSG (22
C—F =) BEFREZHSHER
Rz B BRRME29-

BE_TZ__F=-A=+—HLEE>
BRTF=%CEZ—%F :Wme)FESH2
EEHEEZMEFBUT

2022 2021

—EZC —E-—fF

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#Ex FAET

Basic salaries and allowances HARH & KRR 2,178 1,847
Retirement benefits scheme contributions BRG] st 2I =R 51 36
2,229 1,883
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30. EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS - continued 30.
Senior management emoluments and five highest
paid employees - continued
The number of the highest paid employees whose

remuneration fell within the following band is as follows:

B S & — 48
BREEAESMERALBERHE
8-
MEBRTHREZEREFEEA
BF

2022 2021

=B F B

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 T 51,000,000 7T 2 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 #7552 1,500,000 7T 1 1

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021,
no emoluments were paid by the Group to the senior
management or the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to gain or upon joining the Group or as

compensation for loss of office.

None of the senior management or the five highest
paid individuals have waived or has agreed to waive any
emoluments during the years ended 31 March 2022 and
2021.

No bonus was paid or receivable by directors or five highest
paid employee after considering the Group’s operational and

financial performance during the year (2021: Nil).
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Post-listing share options

Pursuant to the post-listing share option scheme adopted
by the Company on 20 April 2002, the Company may grant
options at HK$1 per offer to any director, employee, any
supplier of goods or services, any customer, any person or
entity that provides research, development or other technical
support or any shareholder of the Group or any investee or
any holder of any securities issued by any member of the
Group or any investee, for the primary purpose of providing
incentives to them, to subscribe for shares in the Company.
The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the post-listing share option scheme shall
not exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time. No participant shall be granted an option,
if exercise in full, would result in the total number of shares
already issued under all the options granted to him or her
that are for the time being subsisting and unexercised in
any 12-month period would exceed 1% of the total number
of shares in issue. The exercise price of the share will be
determined at the higher of the average of closing prices of
the shares on the Stock Exchange on the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the options; the
closing price of the shares on the Stock Exchange on the
date of grant; and the nominal value of the shares. The share
options are exercisable for a period not later than 10 years

from the date of grant.

31. BERg TR

&R
BREAABR_ZZ_FMAZ+H
Rz EhBBERES S KAT Y
SERUBREEZKBIETZAE
mAEEERNES - EE-EONEMH
FREEES - ERAZFEUKRRHAZ
AR EMEMNZEZERMALTRE
B IsEERTAZSRESEZEMA
RRITEFEARERTDAZRES
BEFr S iTEMES ZEAFEARYEA
RERARABTRM 2B E > R £t
AL RFELHEBRESSTFER
ZHEEESRZBRNDEERESBEEA
BIARBEETRAEI10% MR BEHITE
B> BERNEMA+ BB HRERER
F—H2HEEZ2TNEREEERAEN
KOEZBREME BT ZRMOEE
BESHETROES % WFXEAZE
BEREBRE RN ZITEERUR
MREFEFLEREARIAAERSH
EBMRZEHRTE ; ROKIZEE
HEMXZINHE ; kKRMEE=E
FZREEEE - BRETRAERS
B EEE10FE Z R RITE
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME - continued 31. BiEstE -8

Post-listing share options - continued

The Company also adopted a new share option scheme
(the “New Share Option Scheme”) on 10 August 2011,
the Company may grant options not less than the highest
of (1) the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant, which must be a business day; (2) the average closing
price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets
of the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of the grant; and (3) the nominal value
of the share on the date of grant to any employee of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries including any executive
and non-executive directors of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, and any suppliers, consultants, agents and
advisers or any person who, in the sole discretion of the
Board, has contributed or may contribute to the Group.
The total numbers of shares may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the New Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company must not exceed 30%
of the relevant class of shares in issue from time to time.
No options may be granted under the New Share Option
Scheme or any other share option schemes of the Company
if this will result in this limit being exceeded. Any grant of
options to a connected person (including but not limited
to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder) or
its associates must be approved by the independent non-
executive directors (excluding any independent nonexecutive
director who is the grantee of the options). No participant
shall be granted an option, if exercise in full, would result
in the total number of share issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to him or her that for the
time being subsisting and unexercised in any 12-month
period would exceed 1% of the total number of shares in
issue. The share options are exercisable for a period not later
than 10 years from the date of grant but subject to the early

termination of the New Share Option Scheme.
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For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 i ZE - E - —H#=A=+—HLIEE

31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME - continued

Post-listing share options — continued

The Company also adopted a new share option scheme
(the “New Share Option Scheme”) on 10 August 2011,
the Company may grant options not less than the highest
of (1) the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant, which must be a business day; (2) the average closing
price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets
of the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of the grant; and (3) the nominal value
of the share on the date of grant to any employee of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries including any executive
and non-executive directors of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, and any suppliers, consultants, agents and
advisers or any person who, in the sole discretion of the
Board, has contributed or may contribute to the Group.
The total numbers of shares may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the New Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company must not exceed 30%
of the relevant class of shares in issue from time to time.
No options may be granted under the New Share Option
Scheme or any other share option schemes of the Company
if this will result in this limit being exceeded. Any grant of
options to a connected person (including but not limited
to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder) or
its associates must be approved by the independent non-
executive directors (excluding any independent nonexecutive
director who is the grantee of the options). No participant
shall be granted an option, if exercise in full, would result
in the total number of share issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to him or her that for the
time being subsisting and unexercised in any 12-month
period would exceed 1% of the total number of shares in
issue. The share options are exercisable for a period not later
than 10 years from the date of grant but subject to the early
termination of the New Share Option Scheme.

There were no share option outstanding and exercisable
under the Post-listing share option scheme as at 31 March
2022 and 2021.

31. FARRESTE 1R

EhigiERE &

KRBITFR _EBE——FN\B+BERAHH
RS E (THBRESTEL) - AAQF
ARAERBHEEFAMBELE ZEMARE
B AESARRHEEAMBARZE
ARITRIFAITES > RIEMEED
BE RENEAANEZTETEENEG
RANAERBERAEFHERZE
AL REERE ETEERSER
TIEEEREE (MM EERER
FREERMIIREBE (AREER) 21K
W& QXS A RERAKRRON
EEREEARAEEEXRZ KRS
B, RQBRMIUBEHBHZEE E1T
ERBFEHBRE B REABERMEAM
BiREBIREMERTENFIAERR
EMARTHRDEH T REBRE
HRER EZETRMIB0% - EHRMIT
fER SR ERWBE - B AR IR
AR S B A AR E M H MR AR S
BRtERkE -RAEAL (BEEFRR
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BMBEATRUTIABERE HEAESE
UFRATEE (FEESABRIERR
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IEE) MEETRRFTETHRGE
HBBEZRTROBEN % ERSHA
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MR
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32. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME 32. iBAEFIETE

172

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong.
The assets of the Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in funds under the control of trustee. The Group
contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to the Scheme,

which contribution is matched by employees.

The employees of the Company’s PRC subsidiaries are
members of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme
operated by the PRC government. The Company’s PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage
of their payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund
the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the required

contributions under the scheme.

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, there was
no forfeiture of retirement benefits schemes contributions
(by employers on behalf of employees who leave the scheme
prior to vesting fully in such contributions) in the Group. As
at 31 March 2022 and 2021, no forfeited contribution under
the retirement benefits schemes of the Group is available to

reduce the contribution payable in future years.
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For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 i ZE - E - —H#=A=+—HLIEE

. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 33. REMEEES 2B EHIR
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities TRASEEAREMETS ZEBEEDH
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash HFE BERERIFREEFH KRERM
movement. Liabilities arising from financing activities are BEBzEENARESRERNRKRS
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows MERTERGEERENRERTEAR
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow BB ESRERECABE

statement as cash flows from financing activities.

Lease
Borrowings liabilities Total
EEA HEaR waEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2020 R-ZEZ-ZTHME—H - 21,190 21,190
Repayment of lease liabilities EEREaR - (8,049) (8,049)
Proceed of borrowings B RS RIE 13,657 = 13,657
Interest paid B E (778) = (778)
Non-cash movement: JEIREEE !
— Interest expenses —FERX 778 1,572 2,350
- Exchange realignment —ERAE 483 878 1,361
At 31 March 2021 and W-f-—%=A=+4+—H
1 April 2021 rkR-E-_—FmMA—H 14,140 15,591 29,731
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEAR = (11,013) (11,013)
Proceed of borrowings EEAZIECE QL] 6,259 = 6,259
Interest paid BAFE (852) = (852)
Non-cash movement: FFREEE
— New lease entered —HETHEE - 11,135 11,135
— Disposal of subsidiaries —HEMBAE (MEE15)
(Note 15) (20,619) (9,318) (29,937)
— Interest expenses —MEH% 852 803 1,655
- Exchange realignment —ERAE 220 165 385
At 31 March 2022 R-_E__F=A=+—H - 7,363 7.363
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For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 = — B _—H#=H=+—HLEE

34. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances detailed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements,
during the year, the Group had entered into the following
transactions with related parties which, in the opinion of
the directors, were carried out in the ordinary course of the

Group's business:

(a) Key management personnel
Remuneration for key personnel management

represented amount paid to the Company’s directors as

3. EXRAEALTRS

BREEEMBRERAMBIFLEZRE R
BERSN FRCAEBEHEBEALE
TR EFRR ZFXBDHRN
FEEZABEFHBRERET:

(a) XEEHEAE

TEEBABHFNEXIATFER
BEEZEH FBHMNME29R

detailed in Note 29 and Note 30 as follows: MFzE30) I0F :
2022 2021
—E_C B
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&Ex FAET
Basic salaries and allowances BEAREH £ RoRRL 1,223 1,247

Retirement benefits scheme BRNEFIETEIHERR

contributions 18 18
1,241 1,265
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35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. ig#s
Number of
share Amount
RG#E & E
HK$'000
FHET
Authorised: ERE
Ordinary shares BiER
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each SREE.IBTZEER
- at 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, —-RZE-_FEFEMB/—H-
1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 B2 —%=H=+—H-
—E_—HFMWA—BK
- _F=HB=4+—H 110,000,000,000 1,100,000
Non-voting convertible preference shares — #E#2 Z f# ] 12 JG 1B 75 ¢
Non-voting convertible preference EREEBTZERERE
shares of HK$0.01 each AR B RG
preference shares of HK$0.01 each SREEVIETZELE
—at 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, -MR-_E-EFW™A—H-
1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 “E-—F=ZH=+—H-
—E_—HFWA—BK
—_E__F#=HA=+—H 40,000,000,000 400,000

TREBREEFRAT 2021/2022 FiR

175



176

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 = — B _—H#=H=+—HLEE

35. SHARE CAPITAL - continued 35. iR — 48
Number of
share Amount
RG#E = E
HK$'000
FHET
Issued and fully paid: BRTRERE:
Ordinary shares BiER
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each SREE.IBTZEER
—at 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, -MR-_E-_EFW™A—H-
1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 B2 —f=H=+—H-
B -FMWA—HK
—_E-_F=HB=4+—H 2,818,249,944 28,183
Non-voting convertible preference shares — #E#2 Z 1 AT fR 1B 558 (B3t (a))
(note (a))
Non-voting convertible preference shares of S RZEEO.01HE T2 EIGZH#
HK$0.01 each AR BT
—at 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, —-RIEZEFEWNBE—AB-
1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 —_E_—F=ZA=+—8-
—E--FMB—ABAk
—_E__HF#=HA=+—H 98,500,000 985

Note:

(@)  The preference shares are non-voting shares. The holders
of the preference shares are entitled to receive the same
dividends as the holders of ordinary shares. In addition, the
holders of the preference shares have the right to convert
any preference share into the Company's ordinary shares at
any time at the conversion price at the rate of 1 to 1 each.
The conversion price will be subject to adjustments only upon
occurrence of certain dilutive events.
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For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 % ZE —E - F=A=+—HLEE

36. RESERVES

(a)

The contributed surplus of the Company represents
the difference between the aggregate net assets of the
subsidiaries acquired by the Company under the group
reorganisation in 2001 and the nominal amount of the

Company’s shares issued for the acquisition.

For the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the
Company had no distributable reserves (including
share premium, capital reserve and accumulated loss).
Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of
the Cayman Islands, the share premium account of
the Company is available for paying distributions or
dividends to shareholders subject to the provisions
of its Memorandum and Articles of Association and
provided that immediately following the distribution
or dividend the Company is able to pay its debt as
they fall due in the ordinary course of business. In
accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association,
dividends shall be distributed out of the retained profits
or other reserves, including the share premium account

and capital reserve of the Company.

36. f#fE

(a)

KABZHMARBIEERRQBRE
RZZEZ-—FEEEHMKE
ZHBRARIZBEEFEALA
AMBEETZROZEAERE
MZzZE%o

BE_E__HFRIZEZ—fF=
B=+—HLEE > A ATHED
HAYREE (BERNMEE -BX
RERZRER) - RENEHS
ATE (BRIEE]) F2028 > A AT
ZHBERRMAKRARFRRT > 0
BERELRFIRKEBREIATEREN
EEENBHEEBEEPIHZ
&% AA AT Z RN IREERT N
DIRBEAR B A IR FRER R
BEAATZMEBERMA KEE
BEARQASRBENFEMEE (2
ERMEERKRERRE) BT
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 37. ZATIZHBRAER
THE COMPANY

2022 2021
—EZZ B
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RB AT Z#E 20,892 34,520
Property, plant and equipment ME--BEREZE 611 1,414
Right-of-use assets FREEE 2,862 1,310
24,365 37,244
Current assets MBEE
Other receivables and deposits HMEWRIERIZE 554 2,494
Finance lease receivables R EREHIE - 3,580
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE U B B8 2 B FR 1B 2,519 36,026
Cash and bank balances R & RIR1TE R 2,671 5,268
5,744 47,368
LIABILITIES =R
Current liabilities RENEE
Accruals and other payables FEEt & R R H MR 1,237 2,053
Amounts due to subsidiaries FE{T B3 BB A B FRIE 312,517 310,423
Lease liabilities HEaRE - 4,941
313,754 317,417
Net current liabilities RENBEIFEE (308,010) (270,049)
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 37. ZRTZMHFRAER—E
THE COMPANY - continued

2022 2021
—E_-C —EZ—fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Total assets less current liabilities BEEERRSHEE (283,645) (232,805)
Net liabilities BEFEHE (283,645) (232,805)
EQUITY s
Capital and reserves B RK#EE
Share capital [N 29,168 29,168
Reserves #1E (312,813) (261,973)
Deficiency in assets BEEHM (283,645) (232,805)
The financial statements were approved and authorised for MBBRRNR - FEA+tHAHE
issue by the Board of Directors on 17 June 2022 and signed EEHEREETZE UAHTIESENR
on its behalf by: REE .
Ng Chi Lung Zheng Gang BERE &R 38
Director Director = EBE
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For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 = — B _—H#=H=+—HLEE

38. RESERVE OF THE COMPANY

38. =R E B

Share Capital  Contributed Accumulated
premium reserve surplus losses Total
e BTG BARR Rt szt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TART TART TART TART TAT
At 1 April 2020 RZZZZEMA-AH 440,289 295,610 1,452 (926,123) (188,772)
Loss for the year ~EERR - - - (73,201) (73,201)

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZZ-Z—-E=B=+-RAk

—Z”-FmB-H 440,289 295,610 1,452 (999,324) (261,973)
Loss for the year KEERE - - - (50,840) (50,840)
At 31 March 2022 RZE-Z§=B=+-H 440,289 295,610 1,452 (1,050,164) (312,813)
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For the year ended 31 Mar 2022 #{ZE—E - " F=HA=+—HILEFE

39. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 39. fiB AR Z:¥1E

(a) General information of subsidiaries
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31
March 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

Nominal value

(a) MEBARZ—KREHR
ARRR-F-ER-F—
F=A=+—AZTEWEAT
BB :

Place and date of of issued and Percentage of
incorporation/ fully paid equity interest
registration Class of ordinary share/ attributable to Principal
Name of subsidiary and operation share held [registered capital the Group activities
ML BETRARE
A REEMER EEREE/ REFES
Lol YNGR =Ei] FRFERR 7 48 51 AfER REB DL TEEH
Indirect
M
2022 2021
ZBCCE ZE”-F
% %
Edin Hospital Management (Putian) The PRC Registered RMB1,000,000 - 75 Provision of general hospital services
Company Limited* (Note15)  (Note40)
(Msk15)  (Kestao)
ETRREE (BM) ERAT"  +E B AE 1,000,000 REGAEBRRS
Beijing Zijing Hospital Co., Ltd The PRC Registered RMB20,000,000 99.94 99.94  Provision of general hospital services
(formerly known as Beijing Tongji
Hospital Co., Ltd)*
TREABRARAR FEA  $E B A #20,000,0007 RS RRRE
EREERRARAR)
Edinburgh International Diabetes ~ The PRC Registered RMB5,000,000 75 75 Provision of general hospital services
Hospital (Hainan) Co., Ltd*
ETEEARERFRR FE B AE#5,000,0007T REGAEBRRS

(5M) BRAF"

i The English transliteration of the Chinese names in this
report, where indicated, is included for information
only, and should not be regarded as the official English

names of such Chinese names.

* This entity is the limited liabilities company established
in the PRC.

This entity is the wholly-foreign owned enterprises
established in the PRC.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affect
the results or assets of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the

directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

FREFMTPX LB EXXEE
EHHEN FRRABHTXS
Mz EXNEX e

ZEEANPEMINBRERE
N\

BERARFERINIINEEE

ERFAVNAREMBATES
RRHAEBREENEERAER
E’ﬁ%°§$uﬂ%kt\,\ﬂﬂlﬂj‘§“
Bl 2 B R 2B R T
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39. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
- continued
(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries
that have material non-controlling interests
The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-

controlling interests:

39. B AR Z# R —4&

(b) HEREXRFERERZIFEE
MEBARZHE
TREJNEFEAFERERZ
FEBMZIFEEMB AR ZFHIE

Proportion of

ownership
interests and
Place of voting rights Loss allocated Accumulated
incorporation held by non- to non- non
and principal controlling controlling controlling
Name of subsidiary place of business interests interests interests
BEREEDR
E323i80 5 FERE
1R Al 3L 3t B R Frigzig ZE 33 2it
WE AT TEEENY 2L 21518 M
2021 2021 2021
% “EC—&F B
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FART FHERT
Edin Hospital Management (Putian) ~ The PRC
Company Limited* 25% (3,026) (5,805)

ETEREE (BA) ARAR FE

Summarised financial information in respect of the
Group's subsidiaries that have material non-controlling
interests is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts before

intragroup eliminations.

e The subsidiary was disposed on 15 September 2021.

ERBEREEAFERERZAE
EfEARZzHBERNBEHT
WT-FIMBENBEDERRN
A 2 28R

s EWBARBR-E-—FAS
+HEAME-
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39. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

- continued

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries
that have material non-controlling interests

- continued

Edin Hospital Management (Putian) Company

39. B AR Z# R -8

(b) BEREXRFERERZIFEE
MEBARZHRE &

ETRREE (@) ARAF

Limited
2021
—_E_—fF
HK$'000
FHET
Current assets MENEE 4,723
Non-current assets EREEE 91,725
Current liabilities mEAaE (35,242)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (84,426)
Equity attributable to owners of NATER AEEER
the Company (17,415)
Non-controlling interests e (5,805)
Revenue Wz 337
Loss for the year KEEEIE (7,650)
Loss attributable to owners of TABHE AELEE
the Company (4,624)
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests JEVERR R FE (L& 3R (3,026)
Loss for the year REERE (7,650)

THEREEBRAR
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39. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

39. B AR Z# R —4&

- continued

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries (b) BEEEXRIEERERZIERZE
that have material non-controlling interests MEBARZHBE—&
- continued

2021
2T —F
HK$'000
FHET
Total comprehensive loss attributable NATER AW
to owners of the Company T HEEIEMAEER (5,551)
Total comprehensive loss attributable FEERE G RGN EERIEELE
to non-controlling interests (3,334)
(8,885)
Net cash generated from operating activities RETBFASIRERE 12,847
Net cash used in investing activities KREFBFARESEE (41,003)
Net cash generated from financing activities MEEEAMGRERE 29,388
Net increase in cash and HeEkFREEEEEZ
cash equivalents

EhnEEE 1,232
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40. CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP INTERESTS IN

41.

SUBSIDIARIES

On 5 October 2020, Sino Business Investment Development
Limited (“Sino Business”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, executed the subscription letter
in favour of Edinburgh International Investments Limited
("Edinburgh International”), an indirect non wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, pursuant to which Sino Business
subscribed for 96 subscription shares, representing 24%
of the issued share capital of Edinburgh International as
enlarged by the allotment and issue of the subscription
shares, at the subscription price of RMB114,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$130,000) per subscription share.
The total consideration payable for the subscription
was RMB10,965,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$12,500,000). Upon completion, the shareholding
interest of Sino Business in Edinburgh International increased
from 51% to 75%. Edinburgh International will continue to
be an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
The Group recognised a increase of non-controlling interests
of approximately HK$8,008,000.

LITIGATION

On 9 March 2022, Edinburgh International Hospital
Management (Shenzhen) Co. Ltd. (BT EHKEIREE
GEII) BFEAF) (“Edinburgh Hospital Management”), an
indirect subsidiary of the Company, received a civil complaint
(the "Civil Complaint”) filed with the People’'s Court of
Qianhai Shenzhen City CRYIFIBEEE AR ERT) by China
Merchants Hainan Development Investment Co. Ltd. (3B
BiEEREKRERRAT)("China Merchants”) as plaintiff
against Edinburgh Hospital Management as defendant, and
Edinburgh International Diabetes Hospital (Hainan) Co. Ltd.
(BTEERERFERR OB BMRAE)("Edinburgh
International Diabetes”), a subsidiary of Edinburgh Hospital

Management, as a third party.

20. KB A E R BT R

41.

L)

RTEEFETRARH ARFNMEE
2B B A TSino Business Investment
Development Limited (FSino Business )
BZEEUXRATNEZEIEZERB AR
Edinburgh International Investments
Limited (TEdinburgh International 1) %
Z i ARYEREE R M4 > #RItE > Sino Business
UREESRIBRO AR®114,000
7t (FHE R 495130,000# 7T) sRHEO6AR ST
BEPZ 19 ({5Edinburgh International &8 fig
BRETIBROBRENEZITRA
24%) - ENTBEEEERBEAAR
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41. LITIGATION - continued 41.

Pursuant to the civil complaint, China Merchants sought,

among other things,

(i) to terminate a cooperation agreement (the
“Cooperation Agreement”) dated 31 July 2020
entered into between China Merchants and Edinburgh
Hospital Management in relation to, among other
things, the provision of funds by China Merchants for
the establishment and operation of the international
diabetes center in Hainan (the “IDC") and the provision
of management services by Edinburgh Hospital
Management or its subsidiary to the IDC, on the basis
of alleged failure by Edinburgh Hospital Management
to satisfactorily fulfill and discharge its responsibilities
under the Cooperation Agreement, such failures
including delay in commencing normal business
operation of the IDC and the unauthorised application

of funds advanced by China Merchants;

(i)  the refund of approximately RMB12,130,000
(equivalent to HK$14,973,000) by Edinburgh Hospital
Management, being the aggregate of funds already
advanced by China Merchants pursuant to the

Cooperation Agreement;

(iii)  payment of liquidated damages under the Cooperation
Agreement and costs in relation to the Civil Complaint
of approximately RMB1,400,000 (equivalent
HK$1,723,000).

As at the date of this report, the civil complaint is still
on going. In the opinion of the Directors, after taking
into account of the respective legal advices, the deferred
revenue of approximately RMB12,130,000 (equivalent to
HK$14,973,000) which related to Cooperation Agreement
was transferred to other payable and provision of payment
of liquidated damages of approximately RMB1,400,000
(equivalent HK$1,697,000) has been recognised during the
year ended 31 March 2022.
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EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE
REPORTING PERIOD

The Directors are not aware of any significant event requiring
disclosure that has taken place subsequent to 31 March
2022 and up to the date of this report.

AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 17 June
2022.
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RESULTS 5

For the year ended 31 March
BE=-HA=1+—HLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—8__ B ZEBE B-hE IE-N\E
HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FET FET FAET FAT FHET

Revenue Wz 54,238 53,886 144,591 326,926 330,455
Loss before taxation PR A B 1R (7,546) (39,403) (55,716) (46,065) (90,847)
Taxation I8 (1,319) - (1,088) (4,252) (6,176)
Discontinued operation BRIEREER - = = = =
Loss for the year FEBE (8,865) (39,403) (56,804) (50,317) (97,023)
Loss attributable to WFALREGEE

- Owners of the Company ~ —Z&AFHEE A (12,689) (30,183) (49,504) (50,356) (102,735)

- Non-controlling interests ~ —JEIZERRHE R 3,824 (9,220) (7,300) 39 5,712

(8,865) (39,403) (56,804) (50,317) (97,023)

For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
ke —EC-F BIEE “EB-AF ZB-N\E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FTET FAET FTHET FHET

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BER&E

Total assets MEE 60,448 191,376 183,171 233,402 352,683
Total liabilities FER=K (34,081) (158,476) (111,404) (85,792) (101,998)
26,367 32,900 71,767 147,610 250,685
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